

# 2015 – 2018 CONTRACT OF AGREEMENT

**BETWEEN** 

**CONEJO VALLEY UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT** 

AND

**CALIFORNIA SCHOOL EMPLOYEES ASSOCIATION** 

AND ITS

**CONEJO CHAPTER 620** 



### TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLE		PAGE
	Preamble	2
1	Recognition	2
2	No Discrimination	6
3	Employee Rights	6
4	Organizational Rights	8
5	Check Off and Organizational Security	11
6	Union Representatives	13
7	District Rights	14
8	Concerted Activities	15
9	Pay and Allowances	15
10	Health and Welfare Benefits	20
11	Employee Expenses and Materials	29
12	Hours and Overtime	29
13	Leaves	35
14	Vacation Plan	46
15	Holidays	49
16	Transfers and Other Employment Actions	50
17	Layoff and Reemployment	52
18	Evaluation Procedures	57
19	Safety	60
20	Grievances	61
21	Professional Growth	65
22	Negotiations	75
23	Duration	75
24	Discipline	76
	Appendix A - Salary Schedule	81
	Appendix B - Dues/Service Fee Structure	89
	Appendix C – Memorandum of Understandi	ng 90
	(MOU)	
	Appendix D – Sick Leave Donation	91
	Appendix E – Grievance Form	92
	Index	93

#### **PREAMBLE**

This Agreement is made and entered into this July 1, 2015, by and between the Conejo Valley Unified School District, hereinafter referred to as the District, and the California School Employees Association and its Conejo Valley Unified Chapter 620 or its successor, hereinafter referred to as the Union.

The purpose of this Agreement is to provide a procedure for the resolution of grievances and establish rates of pay and other terms and conditions of employment that fall within the statutorily specified scope of bargaining.

# ARTICLE 1 RECOGNITION

1.1 ACKNOWLEDGEMENT: The parties hereby acknowledge that the California School Employees Association and its Conejo Valley Unified Chapter 620, is the exclusive bargaining representative for all classified employees holding the following positions:

Account Clerk

Accounting Technician I

Accounting Technician II

Accounting Services Representative

Administrative Assistant

Adult School CASAS Assistant

Adult School Classroom Aide

Adult School Parenting Assistant I

Adult School Parenting Assistant II

Adult School Program Specialist

Associated Student Body Bookkeeper

Audio Visual Electronics Technician

**Behavior Intervention Specialist** 

Behavioral Health Clinician I

Behavioral Health Clinician II

Benefits Technician

Child Care Assistant

Child Care Leader

Child Guidance Assistant

Child Nutrition Assistant I

Child Nutrition Assistant II

Child Nutrition Assistant-Satellite

Child Nutrition Delivery Worker

Child Nutrition Delivery Worker II

Child Nutrition Manager

Child Nutrition Production Manager

Child Nutrition Operations Specialist

Child Nutrition Technician

Clerk

Clerk Typist

College and Career Guidance Specialist

Credentials Technician

Curriculum & Assessment Technician

Custodian

**Database Administrator** 

Early Care Aide

Early Care Assistant Teacher

Early Care Teacher

Early Literacy Teacher

**Employment Specialist** 

Family Services Coordinator

Family Services Coordinator-Bilingual/Spanish

Food Services Aide

Graphics Technician I

Graphics Technician II/Warehouse Assistant

**Grounds Equipment Operator** 

Groundskeeper

Health Clerk

Heating/Ventilating Mechanic

**Human Resources Assistant** 

Human Resources Technician

Instructional Media Technician

Intermediate Clerk Typist

Intermediate Clerk Typist/Bilingual-Spanish

Internal Auditor

Job Trainer

Language Assessment & Development Facilitator/Chinese

Language Assessment & Development Facilitator/Farsi

Language Assessment & Development Facilitator/German

Language Assessment & Development Facilitator/Japanese

Language Assessment & Development Facilitator/Korean

Language Assessment & Development Facilitator/Spanish

Language Assessment & Development Facilitator/Vietnamese

Lead Custodian

Lead Family Services Coordinator

Lead Groundskeeper

Library Technician

Licensed Vocational Nurse

Locksmith

Mail Delivery Driver

Maintenance Carpenter

Maintenance Electrician

Maintenance Lead – Buildings/Facilities

Maintenance Lead – Mechanical Systems

Maintenance Painter Maintenance Plumber

Maintenance Services Leadworker/Dispatcher

Maintenance Worker II

Mechanic

Network Engineer

NfL Program Specialist

Outreach Worker - Bilingual Spanish

Paraprofessional

Paraprofessional, Adapted P.E.

Paraprofessional/Bilingual-Arabic

Paraprofessional/Bilingual-Chinese

Paraprofessional/Bilingual-Farsi

Paraprofessional/Bilingual-Korean

Paraprofessional/Bilingual-Spanish

Paraprofessional/Bilingual-Vietnamese

Paraprofessional/Braille Transcriber

Paraprofessional/PH

Paraprofessional/RSP

Paraprofessional/SDC

Paraprofessional/SDC/Bilingual-Spanish

Paraprofessional/Severely Disabled

Paraprofessional/Special Ed

Paraprofessional/Visually Handicapped

Paraprofessional/Vocational Education

Payroll Clerk

Perinatal Resource Specialist/Bilingual-Spanish

Pest/Rodent Control Leadworker

Planning Technician

Pool Operator

Preschool Assistant Teacher

Preschool Assistant Teacher/Bilingual-Spanish

Preschool Teacher

Preschool Teacher/Bilingual-Spanish

**Programmer Specialist** 

**Purchasing Expediter** 

**Purchasing Specialist** 

Registrar

**School Occupational Therapist** 

School Office Manager I

School Office Manager II

School Office Manager III

School Office Manager IV

School Office Manager/Bilingual-Spanish

School Outreach Assistant

Secretary

Security Guard

Senior Accountant

Senior Account Clerk

Senior Child Guidance Assistant

Senior Clerk Typist

Senior Clerk Typist/Bilingual Spanish

Senior Grounds Equipment Operator

Senior Payroll Clerk

Sign Language Interpreter

Site Computer Technician I

Site Computer Technician II

Special Education Data Technician

Speech-Language Pathology Assistant

Speech-Language Pathology Assistant, Bilingual-Spanish

Sprinkler Repair Worker

Support Data Entry Clerk

Systems Administrator

Systems Analyst

Systems Engineer

Systems Technician

Telephone Operator/Receptionist

Textbook Clerk

Tobacco Use Prevention Education Coordinator

Translator-Interpreter

Transportation Specialist

Warehouse Leadworker

Warehouse Specialist

Warehouse Technician

Web Content Specialist

1.2 Newly created classified positions, except those that lawfully are Management, Confidential, Supervisory or Exempt, shall be assigned to the unit by the District in accordance with Government

Code Section 3545. Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive the right of either party to petition the PERB for a modification of the unit.

1.3 Scope of Representation: The scope of representation shall be limited to matters relating to wages, hours of employment and those terms and conditions of employment required to be bargained under Government Code Section 3543.2 (Rodda Act). This provision shall not be subject to the grievance procedure contained in Article 20 of this Agreement.

# ARTICLE 2 NO DISCRIMINATION

2.1 No Discrimination on Account of Union Activity: Neither the District nor the Union shall interfere with, intimidate, restrain, or coerce employees because of the exercise of rights to engage in or not to engage in lawful Union activity.

# ARTICLE 3 EMPLOYEE RIGHTS

- 3.1 A unit member must serve a probationary period upon initial hire into a regular classified position and in any new job class subsequently held. The probationary period shall be 130 days, or six (6) months, whichever is longer, in paid status.
  - 3.1.1 For purposes of defining the probationary period, paid status shall include days in which service is rendered in a regular job class, and any assigned out-of-class assignments, paid holiday(s) and paid vacation. The District may allow up to four (4) days of paid illness leave to be included towards the probationary period. The probationary period shall be extended to account for any unpaid breaks in service and paid illness leave on a one to one day basis.
  - 3.1.2 Upon reassignment into a related lateral job classification as the position and job class in which the unit member holds permanency, the unit member shall serve a probationary period of (3) months or sixty-five (65) work days, whichever is longer.

- 3.2 Personnel Files: A unit member shall have the right to examine either in person or, when duly authorized by the unit member, by his/her attorney or exclusive representative or in conjunction with either of those, his/her personnel file, except for confidential placement-related and examination items, at the District Office, at and for reasonable times during his/her working hours without loss of pay, in the presence of a representative of the District, within the provisions of the law.
  - 3.2.1 Among the types of material expected to be placed in a unit member's personnel file are evaluations, observations, health clearances, record of assignments and letters of outstanding service and of unsatisfactory service.
  - 3.2.2 Confidential placement-related and examination items, as referred to above, which are not subject to inspection, include ratings, reports and records which were obtained prior to the employment by the District of the person involved or were prepared by identifiable examination committee members.
  - 3.2.3 A unit member shall be provided with copies of any written material placed in his/her personnel file except those items excluded in 3.2.1. The unit member shall be given a reasonable opportunity to prepare a written response to such material on release time without loss of pay. Unit members, however, are encouraged to write rebuttals on non-work time. If the unit member believes he/she needs work time to prepare a response, the unit member may request release time from the Assistant Superintendent, Personnel Services. Assistant Superintendent, Personnel Services, will grant such time as he/she deems appropriate. If the unit member does not agree that the designated time is reasonable, the unit member will be notified of his/her right to contact CSEA for further discussions on this subject.

Any written response shall be attached to the top of the written material placed in the employee's personnel file.

- 3.2.4 No information of an anonymous nature shall be placed in the official personnel file of a unit member.
- 3.2.5 Written matter, other than standard District forms (e.g., purchasing, work order, time and attendance, accident, workers' compensation and inspection reports), that is not placed in the official personnel file of a unit member may not be used as supporting or corroborating evidence in any disciplinary action.
- 3.2.6 Any written materials placed in the official personnel file shall indicate the date of such placement and bear the signature of the person who placed it there.
- 3.2.7 A Personnel File Review Record shall be attached to the official personnel file. This record shall indicate each time that the file was reviewed and bear legible signatures of reviewers excluding Personnel Staff.
- 3.2.8 If information of a derogatory nature is subsequently proven to be invalid by decision of the Superintendent, his/her designee or by judicial decision, such information shall be placed in a sealed file and may not be reviewed thereafter except by order of a judicial body.

# ARTICLE 4 ORGANIZATIONAL RIGHTS

- 4.1 Union Rights: The Union shall have the following rights in addition to the rights contained in any other portion of this Agreement:
  - 4.1.1 Authorized representatives of the Union shall, upon prior notice to the District, be permitted to transact business relating to the implementation of this Agreement or to attend scheduled meetings with District management on District property. The phrase "prior notice to the District" means, in the case of a school, notice to and concurrence of the principal or his/her designee, and in the case of another type of installation, notice to and concurrence of the senior

officer of the District in charge of the installation, or his/her designee. Concurrence may be withheld if the granting of the request at that time would significantly interfere with the activities of the work unit.

- 4.1.2 The Union shall continue to have use of the District's internal communication service.
- 4.1.3 The right to use without charge institutional bulletin boards and other District means of communication for the posting or transmission of information or notices concerning Union matters that are not inconsistent with this Agreement.
- 4.1.4 The right to use available institutional facilities at and for reasonable times for purposes not adverse to the maintenance of District operations.
- 4.1.5 The right to be supplied free of charge with a complete roster of all bargaining unit employees on a quarterly basis. The roster shall indicate the employee's present classification, primary job site, and residence. The bargaining unit may request other position related information that is easily accessible through the District's current HR/Payroll database system to be provided.
- 4.1.6 The right to information on, and access to, copies of governmental grants when such grants can reasonably be expected to impact matters within the required scope of bargaining, and said copy shall be forwarded to the Union at approximately the same time as to the governing board. The District shall notify the Union not less than ten (10) working days prior to the effective date of any changes in District forms that would directly affect members of the bargaining unit under the provisions of the Contract.
- 4.1.7 The right to receive two (2) copies of budget or financial material when such directly impacts matters subject to bargaining at approximately the same time that it is given to the governing board.

4.1.8 The right of paid release time for up to twenty-one (21) working days or one hundred sixty-eight (168) hours to attend the conferences or other Association business that is not inconsistent with the interests of the District (e.g., matters relating to the conducting of concerted activities). If the Association elects to send an additional delegate to the CSEA annual conference, the District shall authorize an additional five (5) days of paid release time to attend the conference.

The use of paid release time is subject to reasonable advance notice, which in no event shall be less than two (2) working days. Time may be taken in units of hourly increments.

- 4.1.8.1 Subject to acceptance by the State CSEA into the CSEA Release Time Program, the District agrees to provide an additional 26 paid days to up to two (2) CSEA designated members for release time to visit job sites. Such release time in this section shall be fully reimbursed to the District by CSEA. Each year the CSEA Chapter 620 shall designate those who may be released for these site visits. No more than 2 members shall be released on any given day for this purpose. Should the CSEA Chapter 620 not qualify for acceptance into the CSEA Release Time Program, this subsection, 4.1.8.1, shall be null and void.
- 4.1.9 Representation on Advisory Committees: If the District forms or causes to be formed an advisory committee on any matter, the substance of which affects the working conditions of any unit member which is mandatorily bargainable under the Rodda Act, the Union shall be entitled to participate thereon.
- 4.1.10 Restriction on District Negotiations and Agreements:
  The parties recognize that since the Union is the exclusive representative of unit members, the District

may not conduct negotiations or enter into any agreement based thereon with any other organization on matters concerning the rights of unit members, as contained in this Agreement.

4.1.11 A seniority list by classification based on hours in paid status within that classification and any higher classifications—shall be provided to the Chapter President, Labor Relations Representative and each job site between July 1 and September 30th of each year.

# ARTICLE 5 CHECK OFF AND ORGANIZATIONAL SECURITY

5.1 Check Off: The Union shall have the sole and exclusive right to have membership dues and fees deducted for employees in the bargaining unit by the District. The District shall, upon appropriate written authorization from any employee, deduct and make appropriate remittance for insurance premiums, credit union payments, savings bonds, charitable donations, and other plans or programs jointly approved by the Union and the District. The District shall pay to the designated payee within twenty (20) days of the deduction all sums so deducted.

#### 5.2 Dues Deduction:

- 5.2.1 The District shall deduct, in accordance with the CSEA dues and service fee schedule attached hereto and marked Appendix B, dues from the wages of all unit employees who are members of CSEA on the date of the execution of this Agreement, and from the wages of all members of the bargaining unit who, after the date of execution of this Agreement, become members of CSEA and submit to the District the dues authorization form.
- 5.2.2 The District shall immediately notify the CSEA Chapter President if any unit member revokes his/her dues authorization.
- 5.3 Service Fee: In accordance with Government Code 3546(a), CSEA has exercised its statutory right to implement a Service Fee arrangement. As a result, the following provisions will apply:

- 5.3.1 Members of the bargaining unit who are not members of CSEA on the effective date of this Agreement and unit members who hereafter come into the bargaining unit shall either, within thirty (30) days of the date of this Agreement, or within thirty (30) days of their employment, apply for membership and execute an authorization for dues deduction on a form provided by CSEA, or in the alternative, the District shall deduct from the salaries of unit members not applying for membership a service fee as set forth in the CSEA Dues Service Fee Schedule attached hereto as Appendix B and incorporated herein by reference as though fully set forth.
- 5.3.2 However, nothing contained herein shall prohibit a unit member from paying service fees directly to CSEA in accordance with CSEA procedure.
- 5.3.3 In the event that a unit member revokes his/her dues or service fee authorization or fails to make arrangements with CSEA for the direct payment of service fees, the District shall deduct service fees until such time as CSEA notifies the District that arrangements have been made for the payment of such fees.

### 5.4 Religious Objection:

5.4.1 Any unit member who is a member of a religious body whose traditional tenets or teachings include objections to joining or financially supporting employee organizations, shall not be required to join, maintain membership in, or financially support CSEA as a condition of employment. However, once such unit member has submitted evidence to CSEA, such employee shall be required, in lieu of a representation fee, to pay sums equal to such service fee to a non-religious, non-labor organization charitable fund exempt from taxation under Section 501(c)(3) of Title 26 of the Internal Revenue Code mutually agreed to by the employee and CSEA.

- 5.4.2 Any employee claiming this religious exemption shall, as a condition of continued exemption from the requirement of financial support to CSEA, furnish CSEA with copies of receipts from the charity selected as proof that such payments have been made, or shall authorize payroll deduction of such payments.
- 5.4.3 CSEA agrees to furnish any information needed by the District to fulfill the provisions of this Section.
- 5.5 Hold Harmless Provision: CSEA agrees to reimburse the District, its officers and agents for all legal fees and legal costs incurred after notice to CSEA in defending against any court or administrative action challenging the legality of the organization security provision of this Agreement or the implementation thereof.

### ARTICLE 6 UNION REPRESENTATIVES

- 6.1 The parties agree that the Union may designate up to eight (8) employer/employee relations representatives (EER Reps); and that the Union may designate up to two site representatives for each separate location where there are more than two (2) members regularly assigned to work.
- 6.2 Selection of Union Representatives: The Union reserves the right to designate the method of selection of EER, job stewards, and site representatives. The Union shall notify the District in writing of the names and capacities of such representatives and the group they represent. If a change is made, the District shall be advised in writing forthwith of such change.
- 6.3 Duties and Responsibilities of Representatives: To the extent such cannot be reasonably handled during non-duty hours, representatives shall, subject to District operational needs, after notifying his/her immediate supervisor, be permitted to leave without penalty his/her normal work area during reasonable times in order to assist in investigation and presentation of grievances; to represent unit members in the case of any disciplinary or investigative disciplinary meeting where the employee requests such representation; to accompany CAL-OSHA representatives in

conducting on-site walk-around safety inspections of any area for which the site representative has responsibility; and to file notice or take action on behalf of unit members relative to rights afforded under this Agreement.

- 6.4 For purposes of representation during investigative meetings, the following shall apply:
  - 6.4.1 The representative shall be able to take an active role in assisting the employee to present the facts, including speaking during an investigation interview.
  - 6.4.2 The manager/supervisor conducting the interview may require the employee to answer specific questions regarding the matter under investigation directed to the employee.
- 6.5 The foregoing rights of Union representatives pertain to the Union designated EER, site representatives, and/or chapter job stewards, it being understood that only one (1) unit employee representing, unless one of the representatives is in training, shall exercise the right of release time with respect to any single incident and any activities, meetings, and appeals relating thereto.

# ARTICLE 7 DISTRICT RIGHTS

7.1 It is understood and agreed that the District retains all of its powers and authority to direct, manage and control to the full extent of the law. Included in, but not limited to, those duties and powers of the District are the right to:

Determine its organization; direct the work of its Classified Bargaining Unit members; determine the times and hours of operation; determine the types and levels of services to be provided and the methods and means of providing them; determine staffing; determine the number and classification of personnel required; maintain the efficiency of District operations; build, move or modify facilities; establish budget procedures and determine budgetary allocations; determine the methods of raising revenue; take action in the event of emergency, (i.e., natural disaster, act of war, declaration of martial law, riots, strike, flood,

earthquake, fire, epidemic, power failure, energy crisis and/or water crisis); classify, hire, assign, transfer, terminate, evaluate, promote, discipline and terminate Classified Bargaining Unit members in accord with applicable procedures.

The exercise of the foregoing powers, rights, authority, duties and responsibilities by the District, the adoption of policies, rules and regulations in furtherance thereof, shall be limited only by the specific and express terms of this Agreement, to the extent such specific and express terms are in conformance with the law.

Nothing in this Article will be used for the purposes of unlawful acts, including but not limited to retaliation or discrimination against any employee or Union; furthermore, the provisions hereof are subject to the other provisions of this Agreement.

## ARTICLE 8 CONCERTED ACTIVITIES

8.1 It is agreed and understood that there will be no lock-out by the District and there will be no strike, work stoppage, walk-out, slow-down, or other concerted interference with the operations of the District by the Union or its members including compliance with the request of other labor organizations to engage in such activity.

# ARTICLE 9 PAY AND ALLOWANCES

- 9.1 The District and CSEA agree to no salary increase for 2012-2013; however should UACT, CVPPA, management positions, and/or confidential positions receive a salary increase for 2012-13, the District agrees to reopen negotiations with CSEA with respect to unit member salary compensation for 2012-2013.
- 9.2 Advancement on the Salary Schedule:
  - 9.2.1 Qualification for step movements during the term hereof shall occur on the first day of each fiscal year for those unit members who have been in a working status (as opposed to a paid status) for at least seventy five percent (75%) of their working year. For purposes of this Section only, holidays and vacation days are to be considered as working days.

- 9.2.2 Notwithstanding Section 9.2.1 above, advancement on the salary schedule shall not occur if the overall evaluation rating is not "Meets Standards" or higher, provided, however, that if a unit member receives an overall evaluation of less than "Meets Standards" he/she shall be entitled to again be evaluated in not less than thirty (30) nor more than sixty (60) working days. The evaluator shall personally observe the unit member during the "re-evaluation" period. If the member receives a "Meets Standards" or higher rating on this evaluation, the step increase shall be effective the first day of the following month. If, however, the overall rating is still less than "Meets Standards" the member will not be eligible to receive his/her step increase.
  - 9.2.2.1 If the procedures listed in 9.2.2 are not followed by the evaluator of the unit member, then advancement on the salary schedule shall be retroactive, if necessary to July 1.
  - 9.2.2.2 If the unit member does not improve their performance evaluation to "Meets Standards" in the second evaluation and their salary advancement is frozen at the current step; the unit member shall have the right to utilize the disciplinary appeal process in the Personnel Commission Rules and Regulations.

### 9.3 Placement on the Salary Schedule:

- 9.3.1 Permanent employees of the unit promoted to a higher classification shall be placed on the schedule at a level which would give them at least a five percent (5%) raise and thereafter progress in the same manner as probationary employees until the maximum regular step is reached.
- 9.3.2 After the original allocation, reallocation of classifications to a higher range on the salary schedule may be made by the District without negotiation or consultation if and when it determines that the

classification salary level is not adequate to resolve recruitment difficulties or position turnover. The District will provide the Union with advance notice of implementing such action.

9.4 Longevity Compensation: Upon completion of seven (7), ten (10), fourteen (14), twenty (20) twenty-four (24) and twenty nine (29) years of service, respectively, from the hire date into a regular position, unit members shall at each of those steps receive an additional two point five percent (2.5%) salary increase.

### 9.5 Differential Compensation:

- 9.5.1 "Differential" is a salary allowance in addition to the basic rate or schedule, based upon additional hours of employment or distasteful, dangerous, or unique work.
- 9.5.2 Split Shift: All unit members whose assigned shift contains one or more periods of unpaid time the total of which exceeds two (2) hours per day shall be paid a shift differential of three and one-half percent (3.5%) or a minimum of fifty dollars (\$50.00) per month, whichever is higher, effective upon ratification of this contract.
  - 9.5.2.1 Shift: Any unit member fifty percent (50%) or more of whose assigned work shift occurs between 5:00 p.m. and 6:00 a.m. shall be paid a shift differential of three and one-half percent (3.5%) or a minimum of fifty dollars (\$50.00) per month, whichever is higher, effective upon ratification of this contract.
- 9.5.3 Specialized Health Care: Students who need ongoing special health care shall be identified through the IEP process, a 504 plan or a physician's order. For purposes of this provision, specialized health care does not include such tasks as: first aid, dispensing oral medication or dispensing oral inhalers.

Such specialized health procedures shall be performed in the following ways:

By the health clerk at the school site;

By another classified employee, provided that the employee agrees to perform the service and the employee is compensated with a three percent (3%) stipend from the start of training to the end of the service. The District shall designate those unit members who receive the training in order to receive the stipend in accordance with established procedures and practices on file with Personnel Services.

In all cases, the employee providing the service shall be provided training and will be held harmless from liability by the District as provided by law.

- 9.5.4 Behavioral Support Stipend: Unit members employed in the job class of Paraprofessional/Special Education and who are serving in positions within the job class that are designated by the Director of Special Education as providing specialized support to students with extraordinary emotional or behavioral needs shall receive a stipend of ten percent (10%) for the duration of the assignment.
- 9.6 Supplemental Checks: Any procedural error resulting in insufficient payment for a unit member shall be corrected and a supplemental check issued as soon as possible under Ventura County/Conejo Valley Unified School District procedures. In order for errors to be corrected within the minimum time, the member must report the error not later than the second working day following distribution of payroll warrants.
- 9.7 Lost Checks: Any paycheck for a unit member which is lost after receipt or which is not delivered within five (5) days of mailing (if mailed) shall be replaced as soon as possible under Ventura County/Conejo Valley Unified School District procedures following the member's request to the payroll unit for replacement of the check.
- 9.8 Mileage: Any unit member required to use his/her vehicle on District business shall be reimbursed at the rate in effect on the

date of such usage as provided by Board Policy which shall be no less than the applicable IRS rate per mile for all miles required to be driven on behalf of the District. The mileage computation shall include mileage necessary to return to the member's normal job site after completion of District business. This amount shall be payable in a separate warrant drawn against District funds.

- 9.9 Meals: Any unit member who, as a result of a work assignment, must have meals away from the District shall be reimbursed for a reasonable cost of the meal as determined by the Assistant Superintendent, Business Services, including fifteen percent (15%) gratuity.
- 9.10 Lodging: Any unit member who, as a result of a work assignment, must be lodged away from home overnight shall be reimbursed by the District for the full cost of necessary lodging. Where feasible, the District shall provide advance funds to the member for such lodging.
- 9.11 Unit members who are serving in positions with an assignment term fewer than 12 months, may elect to receive their total compensation in twelve (12) equal monthly payments in accordance with California Education Code Section 45165.
- 9.12 When a bargaining unit member is required to perform duties of a higher classification than those regularly assigned to his/her current position by the governing board for a full work day or work shift, the salary of the affected bargaining unit member shall be adjusted upwards to the lowest step of the higher classification that is at least five percent (5%) over his/her current hourly rate for the entire time period that he/she performs the higher level duties.
  - 9.12.1 A unit member on an active eligibility list may request to work out of class for listed job openings. Such requests shall be made to the Personnel Department.

### ARTICLE 10 HEALTH AND WELFARE BENEFITS

#### \*\*\*Please see overview of health benefits at our internal website at

http://wwwEmployee Health

 $\underline{Benefits}.conejousd.org/Departments/BusinessServices/EmployeeHealthBenefits.aspx$ 

10.1 The District agrees to maintain the benefit coverage provided below for all eligible members of the unit and their eligible dependents. Dependent children are covered on any medical plan offered by the District up to age twenty-six (26). Dependent children (ages 19-26) who are full-time students in a post-secondary educational program (i.e., trade school, college or university) are also eligible for dental, vision and life under this provision. A post-secondary student must successfully complete a minimum of twenty-four (24) or equivalent semester units per calendar year. Such eligibility is subject to annual written certification and/or verification (official college transcript) by the employee to the District, or such other means as may be required by the health plan administrator.

Spouses of CVUSD employees ("spouses") who can obtain medical coverage through their employer for \$400 or less (out of pocket) per month are not eligible for primary District medical coverage. A spouse utilizing medical coverage through their employer may be added as a dependent to receive "secondary coverage" through the District. The monthly premium to include them as a dependent would then apply. Secondary coverage is defined as medical insurance coverage billed loses coverage from his/her employer, or the fee is increased beyond the \$400 threshold, he/she may enroll in CVUSD's plan at that time. Spouses are required to submit a Spouse/Domestic Partner Medical Coverage Verification form prior to receiving District benefits.

All spouses of eligible unit members may receive dental, vision, and life insurance coverage at no additional charge to the employee. Please check with the Health Benefits Department to verify that all the appropriate paperwork has been submitted.

Every unit member eligible to receive medical benefits through CVUSD must pay a monthly medical premium contribution

through payroll deduction. Please refer to the CVUSD Benefits web page for current information.

10.1.1 Effective dates of coverage for the benefits for members of the unit who are new hires or employees returning from leaves of absence and who did not retain their coverage during such leave shall begin on the first day of the month following the date of their eligibility. Eligibility begins the first of the month following the date of the employees' return to work.

### 10.1.2 Employee Contributions:

All unit members covered by Health Insurance under 10.1 shall pay the following contributions based on 12 months:

	Kaiser Annually	PPO/HMO Annually
Employee Only	\$360	\$720
Employee + 1 dependent (child)	\$780	\$1500
Employee + 2 dependents or more, (chi	ldren) \$1,320	\$2520
Add spouse to any of the above	\$1,500	\$3000
CVUSD Dual Coverage Spouses	\$360	\$720
Dual Coverage Family	\$780	\$1500

Example: Employee work year – 12 month: \$30 per month Employee work year – 10 month: \$36 per month

- 10.1.2.1 If two CVUSD employees are married (spouses) or are registered domestic partners and both qualify for benefits, each spouse/domestic partner employee would receive a coordination of benefits with spouse/domestic partner's CVUSD plan. For family coordination of benefits each spouse/domestic partner would have a monetary fee based on a twelve month basis.
- 10.1.2.2 Should the Health & Welfare Fund ending balance exceed \$1,000,000 in June, at that time the parties shall reopen negotiations to discuss the reduction, or possible elimination of employee contributions to health benefits for the subsequent school year.

#### 10.2 Health Insurance:

- 10.2.1 Employees may select coverage from the following three options:
  - (1) Anthem Blue Cross PPO (Dual Option\*)
  - (2) Anthem Blue Cross HMO (Dual Option\*)
  - (3) Kaiser Permanente (HMO)
  - \*Dual Option—Twice a year an employee may elect to change plans.
  - 10.2.1.1 Plans listed in 10.2.1 run from January 1-December 31.
- 10.2.2 The following provisions shall apply to the District's Self-Insured (PPO) insurance plan:
  - 10.2.2.1 A unit member may appeal a contested claim through the appeal program provided for by the carrier. If such claim is not satisfactorily resolved it may be submitted in writing to the District on appeal. The District will respond in writing to the appeal, and provide the Association with a summary of the appeal and the District's response.
  - 10.2.2.2 The District guarantees to fund and maintain the level of reserves as herein provided at or above the level recommended by an actuary.
  - 10.2.2.3 There shall be no change in administrator without prior notice and negotiation upon request.
  - 10.2.2.4 District shall maintain stop loss coverage.
- 10.2.3 Prescription Insurance: The District shall continue to provide the self-insured prescription plan in conjunction with the PPO plan benefits.
- 10.3 Dental Insurance: The District shall continue to provide the selfinsured dental insurance coverage at the same level of benefits and

services with a maximum annual benefit of fifteen hundred dollars \$1,500 for Premier Dentists and \$1,700 for PPO Dentists. This plan runs January 1-December 31.

- 10.4 Vision Care Plan: The District shall continue to provide the self-insured vision care coverage which shall provide the same level of benefits and services as the plan currently in effect. This plan runs July 1-June 30.
- 10.5 Life Insurance: The District shall provide a sum that shall provide for full coverage of the annual premium for each unit member for a decreasing term life insurance with dependent coverage of fifteen hundred dollars (\$1,500). The plan shall be the Standard Life Insurance Company (Policy 503030).
- 10.6 The parties agree to continue an IRS Section 125 Program.
- 10.7 Unit members shall be eligible for insurance programs on the first of the month following fulfillment of the eligibility requirement.
- 10.8 Modification to Insurance Plans:

Notwithstanding the foregoing sections, the following modifications to the insurance plans will be made:

- 10.8.1 Hearing Aids The District's PPO plan shall provide for hearing aids, one per ear every three (3) years, at no cost, deductible, or co-pay. There is no re-imbursement for the cost of the hearing test unless the test is otherwise covered under the insurance policy.
- 10.8.2 Prostheses/Wigs The District's PPO plan shall provide for a limit of two (2) wigs and a lifetime benefit of four hundred dollars (\$400) per member, not subject to the deductible.
- 10.8.3 Acupuncture/Acupressure The District's PPO plan shall provide for acupuncture/acupressure services with a limit on the number of visits to be consistent with limitations regarding physical therapy and chiropractic visitations.

- 10.8.4 Lifetime Maximum As of July 1, 2012, lifetime maximum benefits were eliminated in compliance with the National Health Care Reform Act and will revert to stated maximums if federal or state regulations were to be repealed. If the regulations are altered the parties agree to negotiate the appropriate changes to this article.
- 10.8.5 Orthodontia The lifetime orthodontia benefit per eligible dependent, prior to age 19, shall be one thousand dollars (\$1,000).
- 10.8.6 The self-funded PPO Prescription Plan co-pay(s) for generic drugs shall be fifteen dollars (\$15) and on brand name drugs thirty dollars (\$30). The cost of a ninety (90)-day supply of medicine shall be thirty dollars (\$30) for generic, and sixty (\$60) for brand name drugs.
  - 10.8.6.1 Unit members are required to fill prescriptions with generic medications, unless no generic alternatives are avail-able, or a name brand drug has been prescribed by the physician.
- 10.8.7 There shall be a one hundred dollar (\$100) annual (January 1) PPO prescription plan deductible (applies towards the actual drug cost, not the co-pay) per eligible employee/dependent.
- 10.8.8 The HMO drug co-pays shall be as follows:
  - 10.8.8.1 Anthem Blue Cross HMO Rx Co-pay: \$15 generic/\$30 brand/\$50 non-formulary; Rx 90-day mail order 2 co-pays
  - 10.8.8.2 Kaiser HMO Rx Co-Pay: \$15 generic/\$30 brand/\$50 non-formulary; Rx 90-day mail order 2 co-pays
  - 10.8.8.3 All prescriptions shall be filled mandatory generic, unless a brand name drug has been prescribed by the physician.
  - 10.8.9 The HMO co-pay on doctor visits shall be as follows:

- 10.8.9.1 Anthem Blue Cross HMO doctor visit co-pay shall be \$30.
- 10.8.9.2 Kaiser Permanente HMO doctor visit co-pay shall be \$30.
- 10.8.10 The PPO in-network medical deductible shall be \$500 per eligible employee/dependent, not to exceed \$1,250 per family.
- 10.8.11 The maximum PPO in-network Medical out of pocket shall be two thousand dollars (\$2,000) per eligible employee/dependent. Four thousand dollars (\$4,000) per family; deductible not applied to out-of-pocket.
- 10.8.12 The PPO medical out-of-network benefit shall be at 40% (forty-percent).
- 10.8.13 The PPO medical out-of-network deductible is \$1,000 per person or \$3,000 per family maximum.
- 10.8.14 Member pays out-of-network co-insurance of 60%; the PPO out-of-network deductible; and a doctor visit co-pay of \$25.00.
- 10.8.15 The PPO out-of-network medical, out-of-pocket maximum is \$8,000.
- 10.8.16 Well-Child Care Office Visits/Immunizations: Plan benefits are provided in compliance with the National Health Care Reform Act and may be subject to renegotiation if federal or state regulations are modified or repealed.
- 10.8.17 PPO in-network inpatient hospital and outpatient surgery (includes inpatient mental health) co-insurance coverage shall be paid at 80% (eighty percent).

#### 10.9 Eligibility

- 10.9.1 Eligibility for Full-Time Employees: All Unit Members holding assignments of 6 hours or more and their eligible dependents shall be covered under the programs provided in Section 10.1 of this Article.
- 10.9.2 Part-Time Employees: Part time employees with a permanent assignment term of four (4) but less than six (6) hours per day and at least twenty (20) hours per week may purchase health benefits at a pro-rated amount. Payments for dental, vision, and life would not be pro-rated and there would be no District contribution. Part time employees working less than four (4) hours per day may buy in to medical, dental, vision and/or life insurance benefits at full cost.
  - 10.9.2.1 A unit member who has a change in a regular assignment term that affects benefits eligibility has 30 days from the official date of the increase in hours to enroll in benefits. An employee may enroll in benefits outside of the 30-day rule if they can show written documentation that they have lost paid coverage from another source. If the employee declines to enroll in benefits within 30 days of hire, or after hours have increased, they must wait until Open Enrollment to enroll. Employees should contact the Benefits Technician to receive coverage eligibility and costs.
- 10.9.3 Payments must be by payroll deduction monthly, one (1) month in advance. If the unit member's salary is insufficient to cover the actual cost, then direct payments shall be made, one (1) month in advance, no later than the last working day of the month. (E.g. for coverage in February, payment must be made by the last working day of January.) The coverage will be terminated seven (7) calendar days following the first day of each month if the employee fails to make timely payment.

10.9.4 Verification of Dependent Spousal/Domestic Partner Coverage:

A dependent spouse/domestic partner of an employee who is offered health coverage from their own employer, no matter what type of plan, that does not exceed costs of \$400.00 per month out of pocket, must enroll in that coverage, and provide verification of enrollment in order to be enrolled with secondary CVUSD coverage. The spouses/domestic partner coverage shall then be primary and CVUSD coverage secondary. The monthly contribution applies as noted in 10.1.2.

- 10.10 Duration of Benefits: The normal enrollment period for benefit coverage is the month of employment, with coverage starting the first of the month following month running through the thirtieth (30th) day of the final month of employment for full time employees.
- 10.11 Unpaid Absence: While on approved leave, a member shall have the option to remain an active participant in the District benefit programs by contributing thereto the necessary monthly contributions and/or premiums each month. Payments must be made at least one (1) month in advance no later than the first day of each month or coverage may be terminated seven (7) calendar days thereafter.
- 10.12 Retirees: If acceptable to the carrier and within the limits of the carrier's rules, CalPERS retirees who are not eligible for Early Retirement specified in Section 10.12.1 shall be allowed a one-time opportunity to buy into District benefit programs in which they are participating at the time of retirement, for themselves and spouse/domestic partner only, up to age sixty-five (65). If a retiree subsequently drops the self-paid insurance coverage for any reason, they shall not be allowed to re-enroll in the program.
  - 10.12.1 Early Retirement: Employees who elect to retire and who are at least fifty-five (55) and prior to their sixty fifth (65th) birthday, and cumulative fifteen (15) years of District service, may apply for a District-paid medical program, which shall be in accordance with the following conditions and limitations.

- 10.12.1.1 District paid coverage shall be under the current HMO plan(s) provided by the District for its eligible employees.
- 10.12.1.2 District will pay the applicable premium for the eligible retiring employee. The retiring employee will need to pay the yearly negotiated contribution expense or any recontribution negotiated expense participate in a HMO plan offered by the District, until retiree becomes Medicare eligible. The retiree may purchase HMO coverage for his/her spouse/domestic partner, subject to payment no later than the first day of each month or coverage may be terminated seven (7) calendar days thereafter. The retiree is responsible for paying the entire cost of the District negotiated monthly premium for his/her spouse/domestic partner to participate in the selected HMO.
- 10.12.1.3 The right of retiring employees to take advantage of the program shall exist only when the total number of retirees enrolled in the program does not exceed thirteen percent (13%) of those unit employees who are eligible for District paid benefits under this Article.
- 10.12.1.4 Retirees under this program who would otherwise not be able to take advantage of it because the District HMO carrier(s) do not provide service at his/her domicile may elect to receive the equivalent dollar amount for payment by him/her for equivalent insurance benefits.
- 10.13 Kaiser Medicare Supplemental Coverage: CVUSD shall make available to all retirees of Medicare age the Kaiser Medicare Supplemental Insurance program. The cost of the program shall be borne by the retiree.

### ARTICLE 11 EMPLOYEE EXPENSES AND MATERIALS

- 11.1 Uniforms, Badges, Cars, Etc.:
  - 11.1.1 If the District requires a unit member in a particular position to wear a uniform, it shall pay the cost of purchase, lease, or rental of such uniform. Employees will be responsible for turning in damaged uniforms.
  - 11.1.2 Identification badges, emblems, and cards required by the District to be worn or used by unit members shall be paid for by the District.
- 11.2 Tools: The District shall provide, and provide storage for, in accordance with applicable state rules, tools, equipment, and supplies reasonably necessary to unit members for performance of employment duties.
- 11.3 Physical Examinations: The District shall provide the cost of any medical examination required as a condition of employment or continued employment of unit members.
- 11.4 Use of Personal Vehicles: No unit member shall be penalized in any way for refusal to use his/her own vehicle on District business.

### ARTICLE 12 HOURS AND OVERTIME

12.1 Work Week: For full-time employees, the work week shall consist of five (5) consecutive days of eight (8) hours per day and forty (40) hours per week, Monday through Friday, not including the lunch period. With the concurrence of the District and the Union, the work week for a position may be Tuesday through Saturday. With the concurrence of the District and the union, a normal full-time assignment may consist of ten (10) hours per day and forty (40) hours per week, not including the lunch period. The parties may authorize a nine (9) hour/eighty (80) hour workweek for each two (2) week period per Education Code Section 45133.

This Article shall not restrict the extension of the regular work day or work week on an overtime basis when such is necessary to carry on the business of the District, except as provided for in Section 12.9 of this Article.

- 12.2 Work Day: The length of the work day shall be designated by the District for each classified assignment. The District shall give unit employees the opportunity to discuss permanent changes in the employee's work schedule or work shift prior to the implementation. The District shall give written notice to the affected employee of such change five (5) work days before implementation or when the change becomes known, whichever is later. It is understood that the District retains its right to designate work schedules and work shifts. The work day shall include all time during which the unit member is required to be on duty and on the premises.
- 12.3 Extra Hours (Part-time Employees): All extra time for part-time employees shall as nearly as possible be distributed and rotated among all unit members within each location/site. Any employee offered extra hours who refuses it shall be deemed to have worked it for purpose of rotation only.
- 12.4 A unit member who works thirty (30) minutes or more in excess of his/her assignment for a period of twenty (20) consecutive days, commencing with the twenty-first (21<sup>st</sup>) day shall accrue sick leave, vacation leave, and holidays at the higher number of hours. Should the unit member continue working the additional hours for a total of 120 work days during the fiscal year, then the unit member's permanent work assignment shall be increased to appropriately reflect this additional hourly assignment.
- 12.4.1 Should the unit member be replacing an authorized absent unit member, the working unit member shall have their hours increased only temporarily while replacing the unit member from the 'twenty-first (21") day of assignment, in order to accrue sick leave, vacation leave, and holiday hours at the appropriate rate. The unit member replacing the absent unit member shall not have rights to the additional hours in the second position in which they are working, since a permanent unit member is already assigned to that position.

- 12.4.2 When additional hours are assigned to a part-time position on a regular basis not covered under 12.4, the position shall be posted and all eligible employees shall be afforded the opportunity to apply. The District in offering such assignment shall consider such factors as seniority in the appropriate class and efficiency as demonstrated by evaluation reports. This provision does not supersede Article 17.1.9 (Reemployment Rights of Laid Off Employees) of this Contract.
- 12.5 Overtime: Except as otherwise provided herein, all overtime hours as defined in this Section shall be compensated at a rate of pay equal to time and one-half (1 1/2) the regular rate of pay of the unit member for all overtime assigned and worked. Time worked that has not been expressly assigned and authorized by the District shall not be compensated as overtime. Overtime is defined to include any time worked performing assigned job functions in excess of eight (8) hours in any one shift or in excess of forty (40) hours in any calendar week whether such extra hours are worked prior to the commencement of a regularly assigned starting time or subsequent to the assigned quitting time.
  - 12.5.1 All hours worked beyond the work week of five (5) consecutive days shall be compensated at the overtime rate commencing on the sixth (6th) consecutive day of work except that all hours worked beyond the work week of five (5) consecutive days for unit members whose work hours are less than four (4) hours will receive straight time on the sixth (6th) consecutive day.
  - 12.5.2 All hours worked on the seventh (7th) consecutive day of work up to eight (8) hours shall be compensated at double the regular rate of pay.
  - 12.5.3 All hours worked in excess of eight (8) hours on the sixth (6th) and seventh (7th) consecutive day shall be compensated at two-and-one-half (2 1/2) times the regular rate of pay (includes regular pay).
  - 12.5.4 All hours worked on holidays designated by this Agreement shall be compensated at two-and-one-half (2 1/2) times the regular rate of pay (includes regular pay).

#### 12.6 Compensatory Time Off:

A unit member may, with approval of the appropriate supervisor, elect to be credited with compensatory time off in lieu of cash compensation for overtime work. Such request shall be submitted in writing to the immediate supervisor prior to the performance of the overtime work. In no event shall accumulation of compensatory time be authorized above a continuing maximum bank of sixty (60) hours.

- 12.6.1 Compensatory time off shall be taken at a time mutually acceptable to the unit member and the District during the fiscal year in which it was earned. If the compensatory time off has not been taken during the fiscal year when it was earned, the District shall pay the member in cash for all such time in excess of sixty (60) hours at the appropriate overtime rate based on whatever the member's rate of pay was at the time the overtime was worked after the end of the fiscal year. The unit member shall be allowed to carry forward any balance of sixty (60) hours or less into the next fiscal year.
- 12.6.2 A record of compensatory time earned shall be noted on the employee's time sheet, the time sheet shall be cosigned by the unit member and the immediate supervisor and shall be maintained in the Payroll Department.
- 12.7 Overtime Equal Distribution: Overtime shall, as nearly as possible, be distributed and rotated among all unit members within each location/site. Any member offered overtime who refuses it after prior notice of at least one (1) day shall be deemed to have worked overtime for purposes of rotation only.
- 12.8 Minimum Call-In Time: Any unit member called in to work on a day when he/she is not scheduled to work shall receive a minimum of two (2) hours pay at the appropriate rate of pay under this Agreement.
- 12.9 Right of Refusal: Any unit member shall, except in an emergency, have the right to reject any offer or request for overtime work or

call-back, standby, or call-in time. An emergency shall mean a situation calling for staffing in order to maintain normal District operations and/or assure the security or safety of persons or property.

- 12.10 Standby Time: Standby time means time when an employee is not regularly scheduled to be on duty and when he/she is assigned to remain at home and available for immediate call-back. All standby time in excess of two (2) hours shall be considered as regular hours worked and shall be compensated on a straight time or overtime basis as are other hours worked under this Agreement.
- 12.11 Call-Back Time: Any unit member called back to work after completion of his/her regular assignment and having departed the work site or District premises, shall be compensated for at least two (2) hours of work at the appropriate rate of pay under this Agreement.
- 12.12 Lunch Periods: All unit members who on any given day work a shift of five (5) or more hours during which a normal meal period occurs shall be entitled to an uninterrupted, unpaid lunch period as near to such normal lunch period and to the midpoint of his/her work shift as is practical. The length of time for such lunch period shall be for a period of no longer than one (1) hour nor less than one-half (1/2) hour. A unit member shall not be required to work during his/her lunch period except in emergencies, in which case he/she shall be considered to be in a paid status.
  - 12.12.1 All unit members who on any given day work a shift of five (5) or more, but less than six (6) hours be entitled, but are not required to schedule a lunch period.
  - 12.12.2 All unit members who on any given day work a shift of six (6) hours or more are required to schedule at least a thirty (30) minutes lunch period
  - 12.12.3 All lunch periods shall be uninterrupted and unpaid. They shall be scheduled as near to such normal lunch period and to the midpoint of the unit member's work shift as is practical.

- 12.12.4 The length of time for such lunch period shall be for a period of no longer than one (1) hour nor less than one-half (1/2) hour. A unit member shall not be required to work during his/her lunch period except in emergencies, in which case he/she shall be considered to be in a paid status.
- 12.13 Rest Periods: All bargaining unit members shall be granted rest periods which, insofar as is practicable, shall be in the middle of each work period at the following:

1-2 hours worked = No break

Over 2-6 hours = One 15 minute break Over 6 hours = Two 15 minute breaks

12.14 Rest Facilities: The District shall make available to unit members at each work site adequate lunchroom, restroom, and lavatory facilities close enough so as not to consume a disproportionate amount of break time traveling to and from such facilities. Such facilities, if they are also intended for use by employees other than unit members, shall be labeled in such a way as to indicate that they are for the use of all employees.

#### 12.15 Special Time Off

- 12.15.1 If the work schedule of a unit member is such that it does not allow sufficient time to vote in any federal, state, or local election in which the employee is entitled to vote, the District shall arrange to allow only sufficient time for such voting by the member without loss of pay.
- 12.15.2 Unit members whose normal working hours fall during a regular or special general Union meeting shall be allowed to leave their jobs, with prior notification to their supervisors, to attend the meeting. These unit members shall sign an attendance roster at the Chapter meeting, which shall be available for the District to verify their attendance, and shall be responsible for working whatever time is needed to complete their regular duties, such makeup time not to exceed the amount of time taken off to attend the meeting.

- 12.16 Extended School Year/Summer School: In the event the District finds it necessary or is mandated to extend and/or offer additional days over and above the regular assignment of its full-time and/or part-time employees, unit members that the District assigns such extra work and who would thereby be affected by such action will be considered in a regular work week paid status as defined in other Articles in this Agreement. All hours accrued by such an extension will receive all other benefits contained in this Agreement.
- 12.17 In-service Training Programs: All unit members shall be afforded the opportunity, with supervisory approval, to attend District-sponsored or approved inservice training programs determined by the District to be directly job related.
- 12.18 CSEA shall participate in the calendar development process.

#### ARTICLE 13 LEAVES

- 13.1 Sick Leave: To the extent authorized by Education Code Section 45191.
  - 13.1.1 Every classified employee employed five (5) days a week by the District shall be entitled up to twelve (12) days leave of absence each fiscal year of service for illness or injury with full pay.
  - 13.1.2 A classified employee, employed five (5) days a week, who is employed for less than a full fiscal year is entitled to that proportion of twelve (12) days leave of absence for illness or injury. Example: Employee employed for ten (10) months has annual accrual of  $10/12 \times 12 = 10$  days.
  - 13.1.3 A classified employee employed less than five (5) days per week shall be entitled, for a fiscal year of service, to that proportion of twelve (12) days leave of absence for illness or injury as the number of days he/she is employed per week bears to five (5). When such persons are employed for less than a full fiscal year of service, this and the preceding paragraph shall

determine that proportion of leave of absence for illness or injury to which they are entitled without loss of his/her seniority.

- 13.1.4 Pay for any day of such absence shall be the same as the pay which would have been received had the employee served during the day. Credit for leave of absence need not be accrued prior to taking such leave by the employee, and such leave of absence may be taken at any time during the year. However, a new employee of the District shall not be eligible to take more than six (6) days, or the proportionate amount to which he/she may be entitled under this Section, until the first day of the calendar month after completion of six (6) months of active service with the District.
- 13.1.5 If such employee does not take the full amount of leave allowed in any year under this Section, the amount not taken shall be accumulated from year to year with such additional days as the governing board may allow.
  - 13.1.5.1 Any retiring unit member who is NOT a part of CalPERS, who retires from the District on or after age 55 (fifty-five), with 15 (fifteen) years of service with the District, shall be compensated for 20% of all unused sick leave in a lump sum.
- 13.1.6 The Assistant Superintendent, Personnel Services, or the appropriate department Director, may require a physician's certificate or may otherwise reasonably verify an employee's illness. Such requirement shall be made in writing.
  - 13.1.6.1 A supervisor may require a physician's certificate to verify recovery from an extended illness or injury sufficient to permit performance of his/her duties before the employee may return to duty.
- 13.2 Personal Necessity Leave: Up to eight (8) days per year of absence earned for sick leave under Section 13.1 of this Article

may be used by the employee at his/her election, in cases of personal necessity on the following basis:

- 13.2.1 To care for the child, parent or spouse of the employee.
- 13.2.2 The death of a member's immediate family when additional leave is required beyond that provided in Section 13.4 of this Article.
- 13.2.3 As a result of an accident or illness involving a member's person or property or the person or property of his/her immediate family.
- 13.2.4 Appearance in court or before any administrative tribunal, party or witness under subpoena, to the extent not provided for under Section 13.4.
- 13.2.5 Such other reasons approved by the District. Personal necessity means the reasons specified in 13.2.1 through 13.2.4 above. In addition, personal necessity (as distinguished from personal convenience) means compelling life events, the scheduling of which is beyond the direct or indirect control of the employee, such as, birth of a child to the employee's wife, adoption of a child, marriage or graduation of children or grandchildren, religious holidays, and funerals of close friends and relatives. Such reasons as business or personal appointments and travel do not constitute personal necessity.

## 13.3 Extended Half-Pay Sick Leave:

- 13.3.1 Notwithstanding leave provisions provided for in Article 13.1 and 13.8, each unit member shall be credited with a total of one hundred (100) days of sick leave on July 1<sup>st</sup> of each fiscal year. Such sick leave shall be compensated at the rate of fifty percent (50%) of the member's regular salary, and shall not accumulate from year to year.
- 13.3.2 A unit member shall become eligible for extended sick leave at fifty percent (50%) pay after exhausting

accrued full pay sick leave under the provision of Article 13.1 and 13.8, if applicable, after five (5) consecutive workdays of illness. Once eligible, the unit member shall receive fifty percent (50%) pay retroactive to the first day of absence due to illness which has resulted in five or more days of incapacity to render service.

- 13.3.3 As an exception to 13.3.2, a unit member may be authorized to utilize extended sick leave pay upon the first (1<sup>st</sup>) day of illness when the illness is directly or indirectly related to a pre-existing and chronic FMLA or CFRA qualifying serious health condition as certified by a health care provider, and such certification is on file with the Classified Personnel Department.
- 13.3.4 Unit members utilizing the provisions of 13.3.1 above shall receive seniority credit for their full regular day's assignment.
- 13.4 Bereavement Leave: A unit member shall be granted a leave with full pay in the event of the death of any member of his/her immediate family. The leave shall be for a period not to exceed five (5) working days. The immediate family is defined as spouse, registered domestic partner, parent, sibling, child, grandparent, grandparents-in-law, grandchild, father-in-law, mother-in-law, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, brother-in-law, sister-in-law, foster or step child/parent/sibling, legal guardian or any relative of either spouse/registered domestic partner living in the immediate household of the unit member.
- 13.5 Jury Duty: A unit member shall be entitled to leave without loss of pay for any time the member is required to perform jury duty. The District shall pay the member the difference, if any, between the amount received for jury duty and the member's regular rate of pay. Any meal, mileage, and/or parking allowance provided the member for jury duty shall not be considered in the amount received for jury duty. A member serving jury duty for any portion of an eight (8) hour day shall be excused from work without loss of pay for the same number of hours as his/her regular shift.

- 13.6 Military Leave: A unit member shall be entitled to any military leave provided by law and shall retain all rights and privileges granted by law arising out of the exercise of military leave. A District representative shall make himself/herself available upon request to inform such unit member of District benefits that may be available to the unit member or his qualified dependents, including COBRA.
- 13.7 Absence in Response to a Court Subpoena: If a unit member, other than a plaintiff or complainant in an action against the District or one of its agents, is necessarily absent from work in attendance at a trial, hearing, or other legal proceeding in response to an official order from a governmental jurisdiction or to appear before a grand jury or in a criminal or civil case before a United States Court or a Court of California, no deductions will be made from the employee's salary on account of such absence, provided that in any case in which a fee is paid to the employee, such fee shall be deducted from the normal salary due to the employee for the period of absence.
- 13.8 Industrial Accident and Illness Leave: Employees shall be entitled to industrial accident and illness leave as provided for below provided the employee has promptly reported the on-the-job accident or illness as soon as it is evidenced, has consulted his/her previously designated personal physician or a District-approved doctor without delay, has obtained the attending physician's authorization to be off work, and has otherwise complied with the District's administrative procedures for the processing of such claims.
  - 13.8.1 To maintain validity of the claim a weekly contact must be made to the employee's supervisor.
  - 13.8.2 When an employee is necessarily absent from his/her duties on account of an industrial accident or illness, such employee shall be paid such portion of the salary due the employee for any month in which the absence occurs as, when added to the employee's temporary disability indemnity under the Labor Code, will result in a payment to the employee of not more than his/her full salary. The term "full salary" as used herein shall be computed so that it shall not be less than the

employee's "average weekly earnings" as that phrase is used in Section 4453 of the Labor Code. For purposes of this Section, however, the maximum and minimum average weekly earnings set forth in Section 4453 shall otherwise not be deemed applicable.

- 13.8.3 Such leave shall be granted for up to sixty (60) working days in any one (1) fiscal year for the same accident during such times that the schools of the District are required to be in session or when the employee would otherwise have been performing work for the District.
- 13.8.4 Allowable leave shall not be accumulated from fiscal year to fiscal year. When an industrial accident or illness leave overlaps into the next fiscal year, the employee shall be entitled to only the amount of unused leave due him/her for the same illness or injury.
- 13.8.5 Pay for industrial accident and illness leave shall commence on the first day of absence; provided, however, that the District shall recoup from the employee any benefits provided hereunder if it is subsequently determined by competent legal authority that the employee had not been entitled to such benefits.
- 13.8.6 When all available leaves of absence, paid or unpaid, have been exhausted and if the employee is not medically able to assume the duties of the person's position, the person shall, if not placed in another position, be placed on a reemployment list for a period of thirty-nine (39) months. When available, during the thirty-nine month period, the person shall be employed in a vacant position in the class of the person's previous assignment over all other available candidates except for a reemployment list established because of lack of work or lack of funds, in which case the person shall be listed in accordance with appropriate seniority regulations.
- 13.8.7 Any employee receiving benefits under this Section shall, during periods of injury or illness, remain within the State of California unless the District authorizes travel outside the state.

13.8.8 An employee who has been placed on a reemployment list, as provided herein, who has been medically released for return to duty and who fails to accept an appropriate assignment shall be dismissed.

# 13.9 Catastrophic Leave Donation Program

- 13.9.1 A "catastrophic illness or injury" means an illness or injury that is expected to incapacitate the employee for an extended period of time, or that incapacitates a member of the employee's family which incapacity requires the employee to take time off from work for an extended period of time to care for that family member, and taking extended time off work creates a financial hardship for the employee because he/she has exhausted all of his/her sick leave and other paid time off.
- 13.9.2 "Members of the employee's family" shall be limited to mother, father, grandmother, grandfather, or grandchild of the employee or the spouse of the employee, and the registered domestic partner, son, son-in-law, daughter, daughter-in-law, brother or sister of the employee or any relative living in the immediate house of the employee.
- 13.9.3 The intent of this leave is to provide unit members economic relief for devastating personal health circumstances. Catastrophic leave may not be used for: Elective Surgery, Personal Necessity Leave, Normal Pregnancy, Substance Abuse Rehabilitation or Bereavement.
- 13.9.4 A permanent employee may request up to one hundred (100) additional days of sick/vacation leave, in any twelve (12) month period as a result of catastrophic illness or injury. (An employee may only request these additional days, under this provision, once every five (5) years, if requesting additional days due to a family member's illness.)
- 13.9.5 Whenever possible, an employee must submit a request for the additional days to Personnel Services at least

fifteen (15) working days before he/she expects to exhaust all other available sick leave. The unit member is required to submit an appropriate physician's verification to Personnel Services which clearly states the unit member is incapable of meeting the responsibilities of his/her normal work assignment due to devastating personal health circumstances.

- 13.9.6 The Assistant Superintendent, Personnel Services, shall determine if the illness or injury meets the appropriate criteria. If the Assistant Superintendent determines that the illness or injury meets the appropriate criteria then he/she will inform the Chapter President that an employee has requested catastrophic leave. The Assistant Superintendent, Personnel Services, shall arrange for a meeting of the Catastrophic Review Committee. The Catastrophic Review Committee shall consist of two (2) representatives appointed by the Chapter President and two (2) members appointed by the Superintendent or his/her designee.
- 13.9.7 Upon notification by the Committee, the Association shall contact employees and request that they donate up to five (5) of their personal sick/vacation leave days for use by the employee requesting the catastrophic leave. Employees with fewer than ten (10) days of accumulated sick leave are not eligible to contribute sick leave days to the Catastrophic Leave Program. Employees will authorize their donations on a signed Association form.
- 13.9.8 Except as set forth below, donated sick/vacation leave shall be by hours. A "day's" donation shall be at the donor's daily rate (i.e. a 5.5 hour person who donates a "day" gives 5.5 hours). A certificated employee's daily rate would be eight (8) hours. All donated sick leave to and from certificated employees will be in full day increments.
- 13.9.9 The Association will hold a lottery, assign each donor a number, and prepare a list that will be sent to the Assistant Superintendent, Personnel Services. The

Association will submit the signed forms of employees donating sick/vacation leave to Personnel Services. Each eligible donor on the list will be charged the number of hours equivalent to the "day" (i.e. 5.5 hour employee = 5.5 hours), as it is used.

- 13.9.10 At the end of each catastrophic leave, the Payroll Department will return a copy of the list to the Association, indicating the number of days actually used and to whom they were charged. The Association will then notify all unit member donors of their status. Unused days will be returned to the employee at the conclusion of the catastrophic leave for which they were donated.
- 13.10 Pregnancy Disability Leave: For disabilities caused by or contributed to pregnancy, miscarriage, child birth and recovery there from, leaves of absence shall be on the same terms and conditions covered under leaves of absence for other illness or medical disability. Such leaves shall not be used for child care, child rearing, or preparation for child bearing, but shall be limited to those disabilities as set forth above. A doctor's verification of disability/recovery will be required by the District.

#### 13.11 Break in Service:

- 13.11.1 Absence under any paid leave provisions of this Article shall not be considered as a break in service for any member who is in paid status, and all benefits accruing under the provisions of this Agreement shall continue to accrue under such absence.
- 13.11.2 Any period of unpaid absence of more than ten (10) consecutive working days shall be considered a break in service.
- 13.11.3 A leave of absence is an approved absence from duty granted to a permanent employee for a prescribed period of time from a class of positions but not necessarily from a specific position within the class. On return to service, requests will be entertained for return to the former position or other specific assignment. If

the former position of a unit member has been filled on a regular basis, the member returning from leave shall have the right to return to a regular position in the class, provided that he/she does not have the least seniority in that class and provided that he/she is physically capable of performing the duties.

- 13.11.4 Any other reasons approved by the Assistant Superintendent, Personnel Services.
- 13.11.5 The Assistant Superintendent, Personnel Services, may require verification of the events which required absence due to personal necessity.
- 13.12 General Leave: A leave may be granted for other purposes at the discretion of the Board.
- 13.13 Family Care and Medical Leave
  - 13.13.1 The District will provide family and medical care leave for eligible unit members as required by state and federal law. The following provisions set forth certain of the unit members' rights and obligations with respect to such leave. Rights and obligations which are not specifically set forth below are set forth in the Department of Labor regulations implementing the Federal Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993 ("FMLA"), and the regulations of the California Fair Employment and Housing Commission implementing the California Family Rights Act ("CFRA") (Government Code Section 12945.2). Unless otherwise provided, "Leave" under this Paragraph shall mean leave pursuant to the FMLA and CFRA.

During any period an employee takes unpaid family care and medical leave, the District shall maintain and pay for coverage for health benefits pursuant to the conditions of Article 13 of this Agreement to the extent required by the FMLA and CFRA.

13.13.2 Eligible members are entitled to a total of twelve (12) work weeks of leave during any twelve (12)-month period. A member's entitlement to leave for the birth or

placement of a child for adoption or foster care expires twelve (12) months after the birth or placement. The twelve (12)-month period for calculating leave entitlement will be a "rolling period" measured backward from the date leave is taken and continues with each additional leave day taken. Thus, whenever a member requests leave, the District will look back over the previous twelve (12)-month period to determine how much leave has been used in determining how much leave a member is entitled to.

13.13.3 The Right to Family Care and Medical Leave shall be in addition to any other leave to which employees are entitled under this Agreement. If a member uses the leave under this Paragraph for any reason permitted under the law, he/she must exhaust all other accrued leaves (except sick leave) in connection with the leave.

If a member requests leave for his/her own serious health condition or the serious health condition of member's child, parent or spouse, the member must exhaust family illness leave (sick leave) prior to utilizing Family Care and Medical Leave.

- 13.13.4 Upon the termination of the leave, an employee shall have a right to reinstatement in the same position he/she occupied prior to the leave provided the employee is absent no longer than twelve (12) weeks.
- 13.14 Unit members may utilize accrued sick leave to attend to the needs of a child or spouse who is experiencing a serious, potentially terminal illness. Unit members who wish to utilize sick leave for this purpose must submit a written request to the Superintendent or designee. The request must include written verification of the child's/spouse's physical condition from an attending physician. Unit members who have exhausted all accrued sick leave may access the Catastrophic Leave Program to attend to the needs of a seriously ill child/spouse.
- 13.15 Unit members will not be discriminated against for appropriately exercising their rights for leave under the provisions of the Family Medical Leave Act and/or the California Family Rights Act.

13.15.1 Intermittent use of sick leave under the provisions of this article should not be regarded as a performance deficiency for purposes of evaluating a unit member's overall job performance.

# ARTICLE 14 VACATION PLAN

- 14.1 Eligibility: Earned vacation shall not become a vested right until completion of the initial six (6) months of employment.
- 14.2 Paid Vacation: Vacation for unit members may, with the approval of the District, be taken at any time during the school year. If the employee is not permitted to take his/her full annual vacation, the amount not taken, not to exceed fifteen (15) days or one (1) year's earned credit (ref. 14.3), whichever is greater, shall accumulate for use in the next year or be paid for, in cash, at the option of the District and the amount in excess of the fifteen (15) days or one (1) year's earned credit (ref. 14.3) shall be paid for in cash. Cash payment for vacation shall be made at the current rate of pay. The member may be granted vacation during the school year, even though not earned at the time the vacation is taken, at the option of the District. An employee may lose vacation benefits if the employee unreasonably refuses to mutually schedule and take vacation time in excess of his/her fifteen (15)-day or one (1) year's earned credit (ref. 14.3) accumulation limit.
- 14.3 Accumulation: Vacation time shall be earned and accumulated on a monthly basis in accordance with the following schedules:
  - 14.3.1 Regular twelve (12) month unit members shall earn credit in accordance with the following schedule:

```
First 3 years 12 days/year accum. @ 1 day/mo.
4-10th year
             15 days/year accum. @ 1.25 days/mo.
             16 days/year accum. @ 1.33 days/mo.
11th vear
12th year
             17 days/year accum. @ 1.42 days/mo.
13th year
             18 days/year accum. @ 1.50 days/mo.
14th year
             19 days/year accum. @ 1.58 days/mo.
15th year
             20 days/year accum. @ 1.67 days/mo.
20th year
             21 days/year accum. @ 1.75 days/mo.
25th year
             22 days/year accum. @ 1.83 days/mo.
```

- 14.3.2 Regular ten (10) month employees in the bargaining unit shall earn credit pro rata on the above basis.
- 14.3.3 Eligibility for earned increase of vacation shall be credited immediately following anniversary date.
- 14.4 Vacation Pay: Pay for vacation days for all unit members shall be at the same base rate as that on which the employee would have been paid had he/she been in a working status but shall exclude overtime and shift differentials, etc.
- 14.5 Vacation Pay upon Termination: When a unit member is terminated for any reason, if the member has been employed for more than six (6) months, he/she shall be entitled to all vacation pay earned and accumulated up to and including the effective date of the termination.
- 14.6 Vacation Postponement: If the vacation of a unit member becomes due during a period when he/she is on leave due to illness or injury, he/she may request that his/her vacation date be changed, and the District may approve such request in accordance with vacation dates available at that time. If the District so approves, the member may elect to have his/her vacation rescheduled in accordance with the vacation schedule available at that time, or may request to carry over his/her vacation to the following year, or he/she may elect to receive compensation for all vacation earned and accumulated during the fiscal year.
- 14.7 Holidays: When a holiday falls during a scheduled vacation of any unit member, such member shall be granted an additional day of vacation.
- 14.8 Vacation Scheduling:
  - 14.8.1 Unit members may request vacation by means acceptable to their immediate supervisor or by established departmental protocols for requesting such leaves.
  - 14.8.2 Vacation requests will be discussed between the supervisor and the unit member to determine a mutually agreeable vacation schedule in so far as it meets the

operational needs of the District, a department or a school site.

- 14.8.2.1 Supervisors shall make every effort to be timely in their response to requested vacation schedules and communicate reasons in the event of denial.
- 14.8.2.2 The unit member shall have the right to have the vacation denial reviewed by the appropriate Assistant Superintendent.
- 14.8.3 Unit members whose primary job function is to provide a direct service to students when school is in session must take paid or unpaid vacation leave during Winter and Spring recess and other non-instructional days when students are not in session unless the day(s) is otherwise designated as non-paid/non-workdays or furlough. Any remaining vacation leave may be taken by mutual agreement as specified in 14.8.2.
  - 14.8.3.1 Unit members who are serving a probationary period and are ineligible for paid vacation benefits until after they have completed a probationary period, shall take unpaid vacation leave as specified in 14.8.3.
  - 14.8.3.2 For purposes of special and compelling life events, a supervisor may authorize a unit member to schedule their entire vacation allotment outside of Winter and Springs recess break periods with the understanding that the unit member will be required to take unpaid vacation leave as specified in 14.8.3.
- 14.8.4 Changes to Vacation Requests An employee may change their vacation request if the change can be accommodated by the District without disruption to other employee's scheduled vacations, and if the District can arrange the change without disruption to District operations.
- 14.9 Interruption of Vacation: In accordance with Education Code

Section 45200 an employee in the unit shall be permitted to interrupt or terminate vacation in order to begin another type of paid leave provided by the Agreement without a return to active service, provided the employee supplies notice and supporting information regarding the basis for such interruption or termination.

# ARTICLE 15 HOLIDAYS

15.1 Scheduled Holidays: The District agrees to provide all employees in the bargaining unit with the following paid holidays:

Independence Day
Labor Day
Veteran's Day
Thanksgiving Day
Day following Thanksgiving
Christmas Eve
Christmas Day
New Year's Eve
New Year's Day
Martin Luther King Day
Lincoln's Day
Presidents' Day
Memorial Day

Board Designated Holiday (either Rosh Hashanah, Yom Kippur, Good Friday, or the day before Thanksgiving (if a non-student day).

- 15.2 Holidays on Saturday or Sunday: When a holiday falls on a Saturday or Sunday, the preceding or succeeding work day which is not a holiday shall be deemed to be that holiday. The District in exercising this option will do so not later than July 1 of the school year.
- 15.3 Teacher In-service/Training Days: On any day during the teaching year, on which certificated employees are scheduled to work and are paid, and on which pupils would otherwise have been in attendance but are not in attendance during any part of such day, unit employees shall also be scheduled to work their normal workday plus any assigned overtime and shall be paid.

- 15.4 Holiday Eligibility:
  - 15.4.1 Except as otherwise provided in this Article, an employee must be in paid status on the working day immediately preceding or succeeding the holiday in order to be paid for the holiday.
  - 15.4.2 Unit members who are not normally assigned to duty during winter or spring recesses shall be paid for holidays occurring during those periods provided that they were in a paid status during any portion of the last working day of their normal assignment preceding or succeeding those days.
- 15.5 Special Holidays: To the extent required by law, any day appointed by the President or Governor as a day of public fast, thanksgiving, or holiday, shall be a paid holiday for all employees in the bargaining unit.

# ARTICLE 16 TRANSFERS AND OTHER EMPLOYMENT ACTIONS

- 16.1 A transfer is the permanent reassignment of a unit employee from one location to another location where such reassignment to another location is to a position in the same class or a related class having the same salary range. Classes that are related classes shall be as determined by the Personnel Commission.
- 16.2 When a new position is created or an existing position becomes vacant, transfer opportunity notices shall be posted for a minimum of five (5) working days for each initial vacancy at all work locations. Transfer may be requested by unit members within their classification, or to related or lower related classifications.
- 16.3 A unit member who requests a transfer shall file at any time during normal working hours a written transfer request with the classified personnel office in order to be considered. A file of names of unit employees requesting a transfer shall be maintained by the office of classified personnel for a minimum of one (1) year.
- 16.4 Transfer requests will be considered on the basis of the following: training, experience, skills, past job performance, and seniority.

- 16.4.1 If the first four (4) considerations are equal, the transfer shall be made by seniority.
- 16.4.2 In filling a single vacancy, the District shall interview at least the two (2) most senior applicants. In filling multiple vacancies within departments, the District shall interview at least the three (3) most senior applicants, depending on the number of vacancies available.
- Any unit member whose request to transfer into a particular vacancy has not been granted may request to discuss the reason(s) with the supervisor/manager filling the vacancy.
- 16.6 Unit members may be transferred as determined by the Superintendent for the good of the District from one position to another in the same classification or for medical reasons to alternate work assignments. Such transfer and the reasons therefore shall be discussed with the employee at least five (5) working days prior to implementation of transfer unless the transfer requires immediate action.
- 16.7 Any person appointed to a vacant permanent position except a current employee who had attained permanent status and who is appointed to a position within the same class, shall be in a probationary status. A person appointed to a vacant permanent position requiring a physical examination as a condition of employment shall be required to take a physical examination and to successfully pass that examination when given (such examination to be scheduled by the District prior to termination of the probationary period) or to be released from that position (promotional appointments) or terminated.
- 16.8 Any unit member who has been interviewed for a promotional position, but not hired, may request to discuss the reason(s) with the supervisor/manager filling the vacancy.

# ARTICLE 17 LAYOFF AND REEMPLOYMENT

- 17.1 To the extent found to be within the scope of negotiation by final court judgment, the following procedure shall apply:
  - 17.1.1 Reason for Layoff: Layoff shall occur only to the extent authorized by law.
  - 17.1.2 Notice of Layoff: The District shall notify both the Union and the affected employees in writing not less than sixty (60) days prior to the effective date of the layoffs when the reason(s) for such layoffs was foreseeable. The District shall, on written request, meet with the Union no later than fifteen (15) days following the notice(s) of layoff to review the noticed layoffs to determine the order of layoff within the provisions of the Agreement. Any notice of layoff shall specify the reason for layoff.
  - 17.1.3 Reduction in Hours: To the extent required by law, permanent reductions in regularly assigned time shall be considered a layoff under the provisions of the Article.
  - 17.1.4 Order of Layoff: The order of layoff shall be based on seniority by class, plus higher or lateral classes as specified in 17.1.4.1. An employee who has been employed the shortest time in the class plus higher or lateral classes shall be laid off first. Seniority shall mean all hours in a paid status, excluding overtime hours. Nothing in this Section is intended to modify the provisions of Education Code Section 45308.
    - 17.1.4.1 Seniority accrued in a job class that is lateral to the one previously held by a unit member, will be counted for purposes of bumping within the class previously held or bumping down to a lower class, when the unit member is being laid off from his/hers current job class.

- 17.1.5 Grandfather Clauses: The District will allow existing classified employees assigned to RSP, SDC, PH, and Vocational Special Education, the right to bump into Paraprofessional/RSP, Paraprofessional/SDC, Paraprofessional/PH, Paraprofessional/Special Education, Para-professional/Vocational Special Education, and Paraprofessional classifications in a layoff according to seniority and other previously negotiated layoff procedures.
- 17.1.6 Bumping Rights Procedures: An employee laid off from his/her present class may bump into the next lowest class previously held in which the employee has greatest seniority considering his/her seniority in the lower class and any higher or lateral classes. The employee may continue to bump into lower classes previously held to avoid layoff.
  - 17.1.6.1 Vacant positions in the same classification where positions are laid off shall be posted for transfer before being offered to a unit member scheduled for layoff. The unit member may request and shall be granted an interview for that position. The unit member may decline the offer to a position of more hours without affecting their rehire, reinstatement, or layoff rights. The intent of this language is to provide unit members preference for continued employment.
  - 17.1.6.2 After following the procedures in 17.1.6.1, a unit member occupying a permanent position that is to be reduced in assignment hours per day, week, month or year, shall be transferred into any vacant position with more hours in the same classification.
  - 17.1.6.3 If 17.1.6.2 is unavailable, the affected unit member will be allowed to bump into a position providing an equal assignment (of hours per day, week, month, or year) in the same class, when compared to the unit

member's current position, and which is occupied by the least senior unit member based on seniority in class or higher classes.

- 17.1.6.4 If 17.1.6.3 is unavailable, the affected unit member will be allowed to bump into a position providing an equal assignment term (of hours per day, week, month, or year) in the lateral previously held class, when compared to the unit member's current position, and which is occupied by the least senior unit member based on seniority in class, higher and lateral classes.
- 17.1.6.5 If 17.1.6.4 is unavailable, the unit member shall be allowed to bump into a position providing a lesser, but most comparable assignment term (i.e. lesser hours/day or month/year) within current, lateral or lower previously held job class occupied by the least senior unit member.
- 17.1.7 Layoff in Lieu of Bumping: An employee who elects a layoff in lieu of bumping maintains her/her reemployment rights under this Agreement.
- 17.1.8 Equal Seniority: If two (2) or more employees subject to layoff have equal class seniority, the determination as to who shall be laid off will be made on the basis of the earlier hire date with the District into a regular permanent classified position, adjusted for a break in service per Article 13.10, and, if that be equal, then the determination shall be made by lot.
- 17.1.9 Reemployment Rights: Laid-off persons are eligible for reemployment in the class from which laid off for a thirty-nine (39) month period and shall be reemployed in the reverse order of layoff. Their reemployment shall take precedence over any other type of employment. Provided, however, that employees may request and may receive transfers to vacant positions prior to an offer of reemployment being made to a qualified

employee on the thirty-nine (39) month reemployment list, so long as the position from which the requesting employee transfers is not eliminated but is offered to eligibles on the thirty-nine (39) month reemployment list. It being the intent to allow transfers prior to utilization of the thirty-nine (39) month reemployment list while assuring employees laid off an offer of employment in the position vacated by the transferring employee. The District has the option to select from the thirty-nine (39) month reemployment list.

17.1.10 Voluntary Demotion or Voluntary Reduction in Hours: Employees who take voluntary demotions or voluntary reductions in assigned time in lieu of layoff or to remain in their present positions rather than be reclassified or reassigned, shall be granted the same rights as persons laid off and shall retain eligibility to be considered for reemployment for an additional period of up to 24 months; provided that the same tests of fitness under which they qualified for appointment to the class shall still apply. The personnel commission shall make the determination of the specific period of eligibility for reemployment on a class-by-class basis.

Employees who take voluntary demotions or voluntary reductions in assigned time in lieu of layoff, shall be, at the employee's option, returned to a position in their former class or to positions with increased assigned time as vacancies become available and with no time limit, except that they shall be ranked in accordance with their seniority on any valid reemployment list.

- 17.1.10.1 A unit member who accepts a reduction in hours or work year voluntarily, and desires to have those hours/work year restored, shall notify the District Personnel Department in writing of that request.
- 17.1.10.2 Any employee who suffers an hourly reduction and has notified the district of their desire to restore those hours, shall receive a notice from the district of a position which

would restore those hours, which shall acquit the District of its notification responsibility.

- 17.1.11 Notification of Reemployment Opening: Any employee who is laid off and is subsequently eligible for reemployment shall be notified in writing by the District of an opening. Such notice shall be sent by certified mail to the last address given the District in writing by the employee, and a copy shall be sent to the Union by the District, which shall acquit the District of its notification responsibility.
- 17.1.12 Employee Notification to District: An employee shall notify the District of his/her intent to accept or refuse reemployment in writing ten (10) calendar days following due mailing of the re-employment notice. An employee given notice of reemployment to a lower class need not accept the reemployment to maintain the employee's eligibility on the reemployment list, provided the employee notifies the District in writing of refusal of reemployment within ten (10) calendar days from mailing of the reemployment notice.
- 17.1.13 Reemployment in Highest Class: Employees shall be re-employed in the highest paid job classification available in accordance with their class seniority. Employees who accept a position lower than their highest former class shall retain their original thirtynine (39) month rights to the higher paid position.
- 17.1.14 During the term hereof, the District shall implement any layoffs consistent with the lawful provisions of this Article.
- 17.1.15 Health Benefits: Any unit member, with ten (10) or more years of employment in a regular position, who has their work hours reduced based on a Reduction-in-Force (RIF) below six (6) hours per day, shall be allowed to maintain their health benefits under Article 10 of the current agreement, that they previously enjoyed before their hours were reduced. Should such a unit member be offered rehire rights into a position of

their class that would restore previously lost hours, and the unit member refuses to accept the offered position, this section of the agreement would no longer be effective for them.

- 17.1.16 Work as a Substitute/Extra Work: A unit member on the re-employment list or who suffered a reduction in hours or work year, shall be offered first opportunity to work extra hours or substitute in the class from which he/she was laid off in accordance with seniority, provided the unit member notifies the District of his/her desire to be placed on a substitute/extra work list. This would include summer school. The unit member shall receive the same compensation as received prior to layoff.
- 17.1.17 Right to Use Personal Necessity Leave to Job Hunt: A unit member who has received a layoff notice may use accrued Personal Necessity Leave to search for other employment. If the unit member has exhausted accrued Personal Necessity Leave, they may request use of accrued sick leave to search for other employment.
- 17.1.18 Use of Volunteers/Others to Replace Classified Positions: California Education Code 35021 prohibits school districts from utilizing volunteers in lieu of classified employees who have been laid off as the result of the elimination of a position(s). The District may utilize volunteers to supplement or enhance services provided by classified employees, but not supplant that work.

# ARTICLE 18 EVALUATION PROCEDURES

18.1 It is the intent of this Article to provide effective procedures for evaluating unit members. The parties agree that the evaluation shall be used in a constructive manner to recognize the strengths and achievements of unit members, to assist unit members in identifying areas needing improvement in the performance or conduct of the unit members, or to specify deficiencies that may necessitate appropriate action.

- 18.2 The evaluator shall utilize the job description, the focus areas on the evaluation form, and any other communicated performance expectations.
- 18.3 There shall be a scheduled evaluation of unit members, covering the prior twelve (12) month period, Members shall not be evaluated except during their working hours. Evaluators shall observe employees they evaluate.
  - 18.3.1 Permanent unit members shall be evaluated from March 15 to May 15 on an annual basis unless provision 18.3.2 applies. At the discretion of the employee's supervisor he or she may be provided a nonscheduled evaluation.
  - 18.3.2 After three (3) consecutive scheduled satisfactory evaluations, unit members shall be evaluated every two (2) years. At the discretion of the District, unit members may be evaluated at any time as necessary.
  - 18.3.3 Probationary unit members shall be evaluated twice during their probationary period with at least 30 working days in between the two evaluations.
- 18.4 Unit members shall be evaluated by their principal, assistant principal, or by their department head or immediate supervisor as designated by the District. If a unit member is regularly assigned to more than one (1) site, he/she shall be evaluated collaboratively by each of their designated supervisors. All unit members shall have the right to know who their evaluator will be, and, through submission of the form to be used in the evaluation, to be informed as to the standards, objectives and criteria that the employer intends to use in the evaluation.
  - 18.4.1 A supervisor conducting a performance evaluation on a unit member shall strive to utilize objective standards when rendering performance ratings.
- 18.5 Unit members shall not be designated the formal evaluator of other unit members. This shall not, however, interfere with unit members who perform supervisory functions from providing input to non-unit evaluators for consideration in the formal evaluation.

- 18.6 Notwithstanding Section 18.3 above, unit members who have not been on a work status for one-half (1/2) of their evaluation period shall not be evaluated but rather shall have the record indicate that they were on leave or otherwise absent as appropriate.
- 18.7 Negative evaluations shall include specific recommendations for improvements and provisions for assisting the unit member in implementing any recommendations made.
  - 18.7.1 In order to allow the unit member to correct the behavior prior to receiving a negative evaluation, the unit member shall also be counseled verbally and documented in writing when it becomes apparent to the evaluator that the deficiency could lead to a rating of "needs improvement" or "unsatisfactory".
  - 18.7.2 If the overall evaluation rating is not "Meets Standards" or higher, the unit member shall be re-evaluated in not less than thirty (30) nor more than sixty (60) working days. The evaluator shall personally observe the unit member during this 're-evaluation' period.
    - 18.7.2.1 All procedures for evaluations shall be followed for this re-evaluation. Except that, should the unit member be absent from work for more than one-half (1/2) of this re-evaluation period, the timelines for re-evaluation shall be extended.
- 18.8 Before being placed in the personnel file of any unit member, an evaluation of such member shall be discussed between the member and the evaluator and shall bear the signature of the evaluator as well as either the member's signature or a signed, witnessed statement attesting to the member's refusal to sign the evaluation. The member's signature does not imply agreement with the contents of the evaluation. By signing, the member acknowledges having attended a conference in which the performance evaluation was reviewed with their supervisor. The member and the evaluator shall retain copies. The member may file a rebuttal of the evaluation to be attached thereto.

- 18.8.1 The evaluation shall not be placed in the unit member's personnel file until appeal proceedings per section 18.9 have been completed. The final evaluation copy placed in the personnel file shall reflect any changes made during the appeal process.
- 18.9 Any unit member has the right to appeal to the next highest supervisor, who has not participated in his/her evaluation, within fifteen (15) working days, any mark or comment with which the member disagrees. In the event the unit member desires to appeal his/her evaluation to the next level, the evaluator shall advise them who that supervisor would be. The next highest supervisor shall meet with the unit member within fifteen (15) working days to discuss the (evaluation) appeal and respond in writing to the unit member within fifteen (15) working days after the appeal meeting. By mutual agreement the timelines may be extended.
- 18.10 The grievance procedure set forth in Article 20 may be utilized by the unit members for processing alleged violations of these evaluation procedures with respect to procedural issues only. In the event the appeal to the next highest supervisor asserts procedural issues in addition to appealing the substantive evaluation, the grievance procedure limitation period shall be delayed for up to fifteen (15) calendar days that the appeal to the next highest supervisor is being processed.
- 18.11 The evaluation shall not be used in lieu of disciplinary steps.

# ARTICLE 19 SAFETY

- 19.1 District Compliance: It is the obligation of the District to provide safe working conditions for unit members and the obligation of each unit member to work in a safe manner and one that does not create hazards.
  - 19.1.1 Unit members are encouraged to discuss safety concerns with their immediate supervisor. If the unit member believes that the safety hazard has not been corrected, within a reasonable period of time, then they can contact the District Risk Manager with their concerns.

- 19.2 Incidents: If the safety of a unit member is threatened by a real and present danger, the member may use reasonable force as necessary to protect himself/herself from attack. Members shall immediately report incidents of battery or instances as referred to above in connection with their employment to their principal or other immediate supervisor.
- 19.3 No Discrimination: No unit member shall be in any way discriminated against as a result of reporting any condition believed to be a health or accident hazard.
- 19.4 Safety Committee: The Union will be entitled to representation on any general safety committee established by the District to review health, sanitation, or safety matters, such representation to be at least equal to that of any other exclusive representative. Attending meetings of the committee shall not be subject to deduction in pay.
- 19.5 Training—Non-Violent Crisis Intervention Training (or its equivalent) shall be provided to all paraprofessionals the District has identified as working in an environment in which it is appropriate to learn techniques that focus on preventing explosive behavior and safely managing physical crisis. Refresher courses shall be taken within 12 months of the initial training to keep the certification active.
- 19.6 All unit members eligible for Hepatitis B injections shall be notified of their eligibility on date of hire. Current unit members eligible for Hepatitis B injections shall receive notification within 30 days of the ratification of this agreement of their right to receive these injections.

# ARTICLE 20 GRIEVANCES

#### 20.1 Definitions:

- 20.1.1 A "grievance" is an allegation of a violation of the terms of this Contract.
- 20.1.2 An "aggrieved person" is the person or persons, including the Union, making the claim.

20.1.3 A "day" is any day in which the District Office is open for business.

# 20.2 Purpose:

- 20.2.1 The purpose of this procedure is to secure, at the lowest possible administrative level, equitable solutions to grievances of unit members.
- 20.2.2 Nothing contained herein will be construed as limiting the right of any member having a complaint to discuss the matter informally with the appropriate administrator. The complaint may be adjusted without intervention of the Union, provided that the adjustment is not inconsistent with the terms of this Contract and that the Union has been given an opportunity to be present at such adjustment and to state its views.
- 20.2.3 Informal Level: Before filing a formal written grievance, the grievant shall attempt to resolve the problem by scheduling an informal conference with his/her immediate supervisor.
- 20.2.4 Nothing contained herein shall deny to any unit member his/her rights under state or federal law.

## 20.3 Procedures:

- 20.3.1 Both parties agree that grievance proceedings will be kept as confidential as possible.
- 20.3.2 The grievance shall be presented on a form agreed to by both parties. It is the responsibility of the grievant to provide a copy to the Union. It is the responsibility of the supervisor to provide a copy to the Assistant Superintendent, Personnel Services.
- 20.3.3 Forms for filing and resolution of grievances, serving notices, taking appeals, making reports and recommendations, and other necessary documents will be prepared by the Superintendent or his/her designee and when concurred with by the Union be made available by the District. The costs of preparing such

forms shall be borne by the District.

- 20.3.4 All documents, communications and records dealing with the processing of a grievance shall be filed separately from the personnel files of the participants in a grievance file. Such file, established and maintained by the District, shall be accessible to the Union for purposes of processing grievances.
- 20.3.5 If a grievance arises from action or inaction on the part of a member of the administration at a level above the principal (or immediate supervisor in the case of the District Office), the aggrieved person shall submit such grievance in writing to the next level of supervision.

#### 20.4 Level One:

- 20.4.1 Within thirty (30) working days of the time an alleged grievance occurs, the grievant will file the grievance in writing with his/her immediate supervisor.
- 20.4.2 Within ten (10) days after receiving the grievance, the principal (or immediate supervisor in the case of the District Office) shall respond and indicate his/her proposed resolution. If such response is not initiated within such number of days, the alleged grievance will be advanced to Level Two.
- 20.4.3 If the grievant does not concur in the resolution proposed at Level One, such grievant may, within ten (10) days of receipt of the supervisor's response, forward the alleged grievance to the next level of supervision.

#### 20.5 Level Two:

- 20.5.1 The second level supervisor or the appropriate Assistant Superintendent, or Director, as designated by the Superintendent, shall, within ten (10) days of receipt of the grievance, respond and indicate his/her proposed resolution to the grievant.
- 20.5.2 The grievance shall be considered closed if within ten

(10) days of receipt of such proposed solution an appeal to the next appropriate level is not filed.

#### 20.6 Level Three:

- 20.6.1 The Superintendent or his/her designee shall, within ten (10) days of receipt of the grievance, respond and indicate his/her proposed resolution to grievant.
- 20.6.2 The grievance shall be considered closed if within ten (10) days of receipt of such proposed solution an appeal to the next appropriate level is not filed.

### 20.7 Level Four:

- 20.7.1 If the Union believes that there has been error on the part of the Superintendent or his/her designee, it may, by written notice to the Superintendent within ten (10) days, refer the grievance to arbitration. If any question arises as to the arbitrability of the grievance, such questions will, prior to the consideration of the issue, be ruled upon by the same arbitrator after such hearing and evidence as may in his/her judgment be required.
- 20.7.2 The parties, that is the Union and the District, shall mutually select an arbitrator. Should they be unable to agree on an arbitrator within ten (10) days, such selection shall be referred to the California State Conciliation Service.
- 20.7.3 The arbitrator's decision will be in writing and will set forth findings of fact, reasoning, and conclusions on the issues submitted. The arbitrator will be without power or authority to make any decision which requires the commission of an act prohibited by law or which violates the terms of this Agreement. The decision of the arbitrator will be submitted to the Board and the Union and will be final and binding upon the parties to this Agreement.
- 20.7.4 All costs for the services of the arbitrator, including, but limited to, per diem expenses, travel and subsistence expenses and the cost of any hearing room, will be

borne equally by the District and the Union. Other costs will be borne by the party incurring them.

# 20.8 Appearance and Representations:

- 20.8.1 A unit member may be represented at all stages of the grievance procedure prior to Level Four by himself/herself or, at his/her option, by a representative selected by himself/herself. If a unit member is not represented by the Union, the Union shall be informed of all hearings and shall have the right to be present and to state its views at all stages of the grievance procedure.
- 20.8.2 The parties agree that no reprisals of any kind for such involvement will be taken by either party or by any member, employee, agent or affiliate of either party against any person involved in a grievance.
- 20.8.3 Hearings under this procedure shall be conducted at a time and place which shall afford a fair and reasonable opportunity for all persons, including witnesses, to be present. Such hearings shall be conducted, if at all possible, when they will not interfere with the regular instruction of students, unless there is mutual agreement for other arrangements.
- 20.8.4 Pursuant to these procedures, any unit member required under such mutual agreement to be absent from his/her duties shall not suffer any loss of pay.

## 20.9 Time Limits:

- 20.9.1 Since it is important that grievances be processed as rapidly as possible, the time limits are specified at each level, and every effort should be made to adhere to such limits.
- 20.9.2 A decision rendered at any step in these procedures becomes final and the grievance deemed resolved unless appealed to the next level within the time limit specified.

# ARTICLE 21 PROFESSIONAL GROWTH

21.1 The intent of this incentive based professional growth program is to encourage employees to voluntarily gain increased knowledge and skills which enhance their ability to perform the work of the school district; to provide an opportunity for advancement to new positions; or to provide the employee with an awareness of the importance of increased efficiency needed to fulfill their role in the total education of students in the Conejo Valley Unified School District. This is an award type program based upon the accumulation of points which will eventually translate into a professional growth stipend. This program became effective January 1, 1997.

#### 21.2 Professional Growth Committee:

- 21.2.1 The Professional Growth Committee shall consist of one (1) representative from each of the following groups of employees appointed by CSEA Chapter 620: Child Care, Child Nutrition, Clerical, Custodial, Grounds/Maintenance and Instructional Assistant.
- 21.2.2 The Director, Classified Personnel, shall be a permanent member of the District's Professional Growth Committee.
- 21.2.3 Committee members shall serve two-year staggered terms. Terms of committee members shall begin in July and end in June. A Chair and a Secretary shall be appointed by the Committee.
- 21.2.4 Should a vacancy occur on the Committee, the unexpired term shall be filled by a CSEA Chapter 620 appointee, for those positions which the Chapter originally appointed and from the same group in which the vacancy occurred.
- 21.2.5 Decisions made by the Professional Growth Committee will be by consensus. The Professional Growth Committee shall meet at least quarterly to review applications for professional growth points; determine

validity of educational experiences as may be submitted for professional growth credit; annually provide the Payroll Department with a listing of those employees who have earned Professional Growth increments for the fiscal year; and annually prepare recommendations to CSEA Chapter 620 and the District.

- 21.3 Standards and Guidelines for Participation in the Professional Growth Program.
  - 21.3.1 Fifteen (15) professional growth points shall be required for each professional growth increment.
  - 21.3.2 Professional growth may be achieved through participation in the following categories (at least four (4) points toward an increment must be earned in category 1 or 2):
    - 1. Accredited college courses.
    - 2. Adult education, regional occupational programs, or other accredited schools.
    - 3. Conferences, workshops or seminars.
    - 4. Service as an elected CSEA officer in one of the following positions: President, 1st Vice President, 2nd Vice President, Secretary, Treasurer, and Chapter Public Relations Officer (Newsletter Editor).

Note: Points for Chapter Elected Officers shall be 4 points per school year. No more than eight (8) points may be used for each increment from #4 above.

The subject matter of the course should relate to the position currently occupied by the employee, or should meet the requirements for career development as determined by the Professional Growth Committee.

## Sample Point System:

Hours	Points @ .125	Hours	Points @ .125
1.0	.125	9.0	1.125
2.0	.250	10.0	1.250
3.0	.375	11.0	1.375
4.0	.500	12.0	1.500
5.0	.625	13.0	1.625
6.0	.750	14.0	1.750
7.0	.875	15.0	1.875
8.0	1.000	16.0	2.000

- 21.3.3 All professional growth candidates taking courses must obtain a passing grade of "C" or better, a certificate of satisfactory completion of a course, or a grade of "Pass" in a course which does not provide a letter grade, in order to receive credit points for the course.
- 21.3.4 Employees must submit evidence of satisfactory completion of course work within one (1) calendar year from the date of the completion in order to receive professional growth points for that coursework.
- 21.3.5 Points will not be given to an employee who is on leave from the District to become a full-time or part-time student.
- 21.3.6 All courses shall be taken outside of the employee's normal working hours. Employees may use vacation time, comp time, non-paid time to attend college and/or adult education courses, conferences, workshops or seminars to receive professional growth credit.
- 21.3.7 Two (2) points will be awarded for each completed semester unit.
- 21.3.8 One and one-half (1½) points will be awarded for each completed college quarter unit.
- 21.3.9 Courses not offering semester or quarter units, and other types of education courses for which the Committee has granted approval, will receive points based on total hours of participation. For such courses and/or

activities, a certificate or signed documentation verifying satisfactory completion from the school of attendance must be submitted with the Professional Growth Reporting Form/Notice of Completion.

- 21.3.10 District sponsored Workshop or In-service: Credit hours for participation in District-sponsored workshops or in-services shall be equated as follows: .125 per hour approved or 1.0 points for eight (8) hours.
- 21.3.11 Educational Conferences and Lectures: Credit hours for participation in educational conferences and lectures shall be equated as follows: .125 per hour approved or 1.0 for eight (8) hours.
- 21.3.12 Institutes, Conferences, Workshops and Lectures: In order to gain professional growth points for institutes, conferences or workshops and lectures, the application for credit shall include a list of the institutes, lectures, conventions, or workshops attended or participated in, with a short summary of the value of each including place, time, speaker, duration, etc., and/or work oriented organizations. Credit hours for participation in institutes, conferences, workshops, and/or lectures shall be equated as follows: .125 per hour approved or 1.0 points for eight (8) hours.
- 21.3.13 This program is not intended to restrict in any way the training and self-improvement efforts a classified employee may undertake on their own initiative. However, such training shall be considered as applicable to a professional growth increment only if it meets the requirements specified by this policy and implementing regulations of the Committee.
- 21.3.14 Reimbursement for tuition and books: Employees may receive reimbursement for tuition and books up to three hundred dollars (\$300) per fiscal year in lieu of professional growth points. Coursework reimbursed under this provision shall not be applied to professional growth increments and may not exceed fifteen hundred dollars (\$1500) lifetime maximum per employee.

Official transcripts or certificates showing completed coursework with a grade of C or better, along with receipts for books/materials required by the instructor must be submitted by August 31st of each year. Payment shall be made after the Professional Growth Committee determines the validity of education coursework.

21.3.14.1 Reimbursement for tuition or books shall result in a waiver of at least one or more of the five Professional Growth increments of \$300 each.

## 21.4 Procedures for Participation in Professional Growth

- 21.4.1 Enrollment Application Letter of Intent The Professional Growth Committee will monitor employee participation quarterly and employees who wish to participate in the Professional Growth Program shall file the Enrollment Application (also known as the Letter of Intent) for Professional Growth form showing coursework that they intend on completing for either professional growth increments or reimbursements for tuition or books.
- 21.4.2 Deadline to Submit Notice of Completion Proof of all completed course work of any type shall be provided to the District Personnel Department with the Professional Growth Reporting Form/Notice of Completion by August 31st in order to receive a professional growth increment for the current fiscal year.
- 21.4.3 Completed coursework shall be verified by official transcript or certificate. All other work must be verified by acceptable verification in accordance with these procedures.
- 21.4.4 The Professional Growth Committee will not approve participation beyond the funding provided in Article 21.8.

- 21.5 Eligibility for Participation in the Professional Growth Program
  - 21.5.1 All regularly employed, permanent classified employees who are in paid status with the Conejo Valley Unified School District shall be eligible to participate in the Professional Growth Program.
  - 21.5.2 For purposes of determining eligibility for any professional growth increment, the term "regularly employed classified employee" shall mean persons serving in regular classified positions, who have completed their initial probationary period and have been in paid status for twelve (12) consecutive months prior to participating in the professional growth program.
  - 21.5.3 Employees who qualify as stated above, who wish to participate in the Professional Growth Program, must file the Professional Growth Enrollment Application Form with the Classified Personnel Office. The Professional Growth Committee will notify employees of their eligibility to participate in the Professional Growth Program. Acceptance into the program will be based on acceptability of coursework, date of application and the availability of funds under subsection 21.8. Cut off of participants, if necessary, will be based on the date the application is received by the Classified Personnel Office.
- 21.6 General Rules and Regulations for Professional Growth Increments
  - 21.6.1 One or more professional growth increment(s) in the maximum amount of three hundred dollars (\$300.00) a school year each, but not to exceed five (5) such increments in the maximum amount of fifteen hundred dollars (\$1,500), may be granted to a regularly employed classified employee (as previously defined in this policy) subject to the conditions set forth in this section.
  - 21.6.2 Increments shall be granted beginning with the fiscal

year following the earning of the fifteen (15) increment points required and upon certification of satisfactory services.

- 21.6.3 Increments shall be added annually onto proceeding increments to which employee is entitled but shall be awarded not more frequently than once each fiscal year, and points will be calculated annually. Only one (1) increment may be granted per year (i.e., if an employee earns enough credits to move two (2) increments in one (1) twelve (12) month period, he/she may only receive one (1) increment the first year and will receive the second increment in the subsequent year).
- 21.6.4 Payment shall be made after the Professional Growth Committee determines the validity of education experiences and the employees who are eligible for professional growth increments).
  - 21.6.4.1 The professional growth increment is retroactive to July 1.
  - 21.6.4.2 Professional growth recipients shall receive their increments on a monthly basis payable as follows: yearly dollar value of increment divided by ten (10) months of employment (e.g., a twelve (12) month employee earning two (2) three hundred dollar (\$300) increments would receive six hundred dollars (\$600) divided by ten (10), which is sixty dollars (\$60) per month; excluding the months of July and August, a ten (10)-month employee earning two (2) three hundred dollar (\$300) increments would receive six hundred dollars (\$600) divided by ten (10), which is sixty dollars (\$600) per month).
  - 21.6.4.3 Earned increments shall be paid in addition to the employee's regular salary and shall be subject to customary payroll deductions. The employee will receive that increment only for as long as the employee is in paid status.

- 21.6.4.4 No reimbursement for tuition and/or books under the provision of this article shall be granted to employees who are not employed by the District at the time the request is received and reviewed by the Professional Growth Committee.
- 21.6.5 If employment is terminated for any reason, professional growth compensation will be paid on a prorated basis.
- 21.6.6 Credit will not be given for professional growth activities completed prior to the employee's completion of twelve (12) consecutive months of employment.
- 21.6.7 Records concerning the Professional Growth Program shall be maintained by the Classified Personnel Office.
- 21.6.8 Permanent employees who are promoted or transferred to a new classification may earn increment points while in probationary status in the new class provided the points earned are in compliance with the prescribed professional growth plan.
- 21.7 Qualification for Initial Professional Growth Increment:
  - 21.7.1 Increment points applicable to the initial professional growth increment may be allowed retroactively from January 1992 up to a maximum of five (5) points for participation in accredited college courses/adult education, regional occupational programs, other schools, and any other job-related professional growth participation that is approved by the Committee, provided a) the points were earned after the beginning date of employment: b) the candidate was actively and regularly employed by the Conejo Valley Unified School District at the time the points were earned; c) the increment points are verified through the efforts of the employee and are approved by the Committee in accordance with requirements of the professional growth plan.

- 21.7.2 If more than the necessary number of points are earned for any of the second, third, or fourth professional growth increments, the excess number will be carried over to the next succeeding increment.
- 21.8 The District will set aside up to \$30,000 per year for the life of the agreement to fund the Professional Growth Program. In addition to the general fund allotment, the Child Care Department shall set aside up to \$25,000 to fund the professional growth stipends of unit members in department respective job classifications.
  - 21.8.1 To enable the District to monitor cost, the Committee will provide Assistant Superintendents of Business and Personnel, with a quarterly report of expenditures and program activity. In the event that growth stipends are expected to exceed the budgeted amount, the District may reopen negotiations on this provision. If the District reopens negotiations, it will not count as the District's reopener that year.
- 21.9 Child Care Leaders who are receiving a stipend for a Child Development Permit in the amount in excess of \$1500 as of July 1, 2010, shall continue to receive the stipend for the term of their employment as a Child Care Leader, and such will constitute the employee having reached the maximum amount under the District's Professional Growth Program.
  - 21.9.1 The grandfather clause in 21.9 shall become null and void if the unit member fails to maintain their respective permit current, whereby, if the permit lapses, the unit member will no longer be eligible for a stipend under the terms of 2008-2011 contract of agreement. The unit member shall be eligible to receive professional growth points retroactively to the first day of eligibility under the terms specified in 21.5.2.
  - 21.9.2 Child Care Leaders who are receiving a stipend for a Child Development Permit that is in the amount less than \$1500, may participate in the professional growth program to reach the \$1500 lifetime maximum. (Example: An employee currently receiving a stipend of \$1250, may earn an additional \$250, for a maximum

- of \$1500, by way of professional growth points consistent with the professional growth program guidelines.)
- 21.9.3 The committee will utilize the same criteria as within Article 21 to determine the increments that have been earned while working for the Conejo Valley Unified School District and Professional Growth Stipends will be paid accordingly.

### ARTICLE 22 NEGOTIATIONS

- 22.1 Notification and Public Notice: If either party desires to alter or amend this Agreement, it shall, no less than ninety (90) days prior to the termination date set forth under the Duration Article, provide written notice and a proposal to the other party of said desire and the nature of the amendments and cause the public notice provisions of law to be fulfilled.
- 22.2 Release Time for Negotiations: The Union shall have the right to designate six (6) unit members, who shall be given reasonable release time to prepare for and participate in negotiations.
- 22.3 It is the parties' intent to start negotiations in sufficient time to complete the process prior to the expiration of the contract.

### ARTICLE 23 DURATION

- 23.1 The parties agree that these Articles constitute a binding contract and contain all of those matters within the scope of representation as defined by Sections 3540-3549 Chapter 10.7 of Division 4 of Title 1 Government Code and such other matters to which the parties have mutually agreed including the right of the District to originally allocate specific classes to the appropriate range indicated in salary schedule Attachment "A."
- 23.2 The parties agree that they have met and negotiated on those points on which they are required to do so by law, that this Contract includes all agreements reached and that agreements so reached shall be in force for the duration of this Contract. Except as noted in the following paragraph, there are no further items to be negotiated for this period.

- 23.3 The term of this Agreement shall be from July 1, 2015, thru June 30, 2018, with reopeners in the first and second year on: Article 9 (Pay and Allowances), Article 10 (Health and Welfare Benefits), and one additional article of each party's choice.
- 23.4 Notwithstanding the above, it's agreed that Article 10 Health & Welfare Benefits shall be reopened for negotiations by April 1 of each year of this agreement.

### ARTICLE 24 DISCIPLINE

#### 24. 1 General Provisions

- 24.1.1 A permanent bargaining unit employee shall be subject to disciplinary action only for just cause as prescribed by law or as set forth in Merit System Rule.
- 24.1.2. Disciplinary action shall not be taken against an employee for any charges which occurred prior to the employee becoming permanent, nor for any acts or omissions which occurred more than two (2) years prior to the date of the filing of the Notice of Proposed Disciplinary Action, unless the District did not know, or could not have reasonably known, of the act or omission.
- 24.1.3 Only the Superintendent, Assistant Superintendent for Personnel Services or Designee shall place a bargaining unit member on paid administrative leave pending investigation that may lead to discipline.

#### 24.2 Progressive Discipline

- 24.2.1 Each employee shall receive fair, impartial, and consistent treatment during any disciplinary action, regardless of the employee's position, assignment, or protected status.
- 24.2.2 PROGRESSIVE DISCIPLINE DEFINED AND RELATED STEPS: Progressive discipline is defined as the application of corrective measures by increasing and progressive degrees, with actions that fit the nature of

the problem, designed to motivate an employee to change performance or conduct. The District shall follow the principles of progressive discipline. Progressive steps may be repeated as deemed appropriate by the District. The common steps in progressive discipline shall be as follows:

- A. Counseling A supervisor shall initiate an informal discussion with an employee designed to assist them in gaining a full understanding of performance standards, while fostering two-way communication to identify solutions that best meet established expectations. A supervisor may follow up with a written notice to summarize what transpired during a counseling meeting, noting areas of performance deficiency that must be improved, including notice of improvement objectives. Counseling may be skipped if conditions warrant a more severe action.
- B. Verbal Reprimand A verbal reprimand is intended to provide notice to the employee that his or her performance or behavior must be improved. The warning defines the areas in which improvement is required, establishes goals leading to the improvement objective, and informs the employee that failure to improve may result in further, more serious disciplinary action. A supervisor will issue a written notice to summarize the incident that led to the verbal warning and improvement expectations. Verbal Reprimand may be skipped if conditions warrant a more severe action.
- C. Written Reprimand The written reprimand is intended to provide notice to the employee of his or her misconduct and/or performance deficiencies. A written reprimand shall summarize the employee's misconduct or performance deficiencies and provide directives to the employee to assist him/her in improving his/her conduct and/or performance. A copy of the written reprimand shall be forwarded to the Classified

Personnel Department for inclusion in the employees' personnel file. The employee shall have the right to provide a written response to the written reprimand and any response will be placed in the employee's personnel file with the written reprimand.

- D. Suspension the temporary removal of an employee from his/her position for cause without pay. The length of the suspension shall not exceed 30 calendar days. The proposed length of suspension shall be reasonably related to the seriousness of the offense. Suspension may be skipped if conditions warrant a more severe action.
- E. Demotion An involuntary reassignment of an employee to a position in a lower job classification or a position with a lesser assignment term (hours per day or months per year). Failure to meet the requirements of promotional probation does not constitute a demotion. Demotion may be skipped if conditions warrant a more severe action.
- F. Termination The for cause release or discharge of an employee from employment with the District.

### 24.3 Notice of Disciplinary Action

- 24.3.1 CONTENT OF NOTICE OF DISCIPLINARY ACTION: A "Notice of Proposed Disciplinary Action" is the notification that disciplinary action will be recommended to the Board of Education. The notice shall contain statements in ordinary and concise language of:
  - A. The nature of the disciplinary action taken (suspension, demotion, dismissal.
  - B. The specific causes and sections of these Rules and Procedures that the employee is accused of violating and upon which the disciplinary action is based.

- C. A description of the chargeable action(s) or omissions.
- D. Notice of the effective date(s) of the proposed disciplinary action.
- E. Documentation to support the charges against the employee.
- F. Notice of the employee's right to a pre-disciplinary meeting ("Skelly meeting") not sooner than five (5) working days after issuance of the Notice of Proposed Disciplinary Action and prior to the Governing Board's action on the proposed discipline.
- G. Notice that the employee may forfeit his/her right to a *Skelly* meeting if he/she fails to respond within the time limits specified, and information on how to exercise his right to the *Skelly* meeting.
- H. Notice of the date that the disciplinary action will be acted on by the District's Governing Board.
- I. Notice of the employee's right to representation.

### 24.4 Pre-Disciplinary Conference

24.1 The Superintendent may assign a designee to serve as the *Skelly* officer. That designee shall be an administrator who has the authority and authorization to accept, modify, or rescind the proposed disciplinary action.

Agreed to by The California School Employees Association and its Conejo Valley Unified Chapter 620 and Conejo Valley USD, subject to ratification of the unit members of the California School Employees Association and its Conejo Valley Unified Chapter 620 and the Governing Board of Conejo Valley USD, on June 11, 2015.

FOR THE CONEJO VALLEY	FOR THE CALIFORNIA
UNIFIED SCHOOL	SCHOOL EMPLOYEES
DISTRICT:	ASSOCIATION:
Mark McLaughlin, Assistant Superintendent Personnel Services	Matt Waldman, Chapter President
Dr. Jon Sand, Assistant Superintendent	Johna Flowers, Negorator
Marida Mihalevsky, Director, Classified	Jeanfifer Coates, Negotiator
Personnel ;	Baland Joure
Josh Eby, Principal, Newbury Park	Barbara Howe, Negotiator
High School  Foug Heath, Principal, Sycamore	Janith Larsen, Negotiator
Canyon School	a.
	James Wei, Negotiator  Mais Love, CSEA Lahor Representative
	5 29

### APPENDIX A

### CONEJO VALLEY UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT SALARY SCHEDULE Effective July 1, 2015

CLASSIFICATION	RANGE	MIN	MAX
Account Clerk	47	2,798.34	3,418.73
Accounting Services Representative	77	3,772.86	4,606.24
Accounting Technician I	67	3,418.73	4,166.91
Accounting Technician II	70	3,519.92	4,300.04
Administrative Assistant	77	3,772.86	4,606.24
Adult School CASAS Assistant	47	2,798.34	3,418.73
Adult School Classroom Aide	30	2,364.36	2,888.88
Adult School Parenting Assistant I	32	2,409.64	2,944.80
Adult School Parenting Assistant II	40	2,614.65	3,189.75
Adult School Program Specialist	98	4,648.83	5,676.56
Associated Student Body Bookkeeper	75	3,700.98	4,515.71
Audio Visual Electronics Technician	87	4,166.91	5,088.18
Behavior Intervention Specialist	98	4,868.64	6,002.00
Behavioral Health Clinician I	95	4,515.71	5,506.18
Behavioral Health Clinician II	100	4,744.70	5,788.42
Benefits Technician	62	3,250.98	3,967.24
Child Care Assistant	30	2,364.36	2,888.88
Child Care Leader	53	2,971.43	3,626.42
Child Guidance Assistant	30	2,364.36	2,888.88
Child Nutrition Assistant I	25	2,252.53	2,747.77
Child Nutrition Assistant II	28	2,321.75	2,830.31
Child Nutrition Assistant-Satellite	30	2,364.36	2,888.88
Child Nutrition Delivery Worker	51	2,912.85	3,554.51
Child Nutrition Delivery Worker II	57	3,093.89	3,772.86
Child Nutrition Manager	44	2,718.49	3,314.90
Child Nutrition Operations Specialist	83	4,007.14	4,888.44
Child Nutrition Production Manager	54	2,998.04	3,663.68
Child Nutrition Technician	81	3,921.95	4,792.62
Clerk	32	2,409.64	2,944.80
Clerk Typist	36	2,510.79	3,061.95
College and Career Guidance Specialist	54	2,998.04	3,663.68
Credentials Technician	71	3,554.51	4,339.97
Curriculum & Assessment Technician	50	2,888.88	3,519.92
Custodian	51	2,912.85	3,554.51
Database Administrator	120	5,788.42	7,042.50
Early Care Aide	10	1,941.01	2,364.36

CLASSIFICATION Early Care Assistant Teacher	RANGE 30	MIN 2,364.36	MAX 2,888.88
Early Care Assistant Teacher  Early Care Teacher	53	2,971.43	3,626.42
Early Literacy Teacher	62	3,250.98	3,967.24
Employment Specialist	91	4,339.97	5,287.84
Family Services Coordinator	64	3,314.90	4,049.75
Family Services Coordinator-Bilingual/Spanish	67	3,418.73	4,166.91
Food Services Aide	10	1,941.01	2,364.36
Graphics Technician I	57	3,093.89	3,772.86
Graphics Technician II/Warehouse Assistant	58	3,125.86	3,807.47
Grounds Equipment Operator	57	3,093.89	3,772.86
Groundskeeper	51	2,912.85	3,554.51
Health Clerk	40	2,614.65	3,189.75
Heating/Ventilating Mechanic	84	4,049.75	4,939.05
Human Resources Assistant	47	2,798.34	3,418.73
Human Resources Technician	62	3,250.98	3,967.24
Instructional Media Technician	47	2,798.34	3,418.73
Intermediate Clerk Typist	40	2,614.65	3,189.75
Intermediate Clerk Typist/Bilingual-Spanish	43	2,691.87	3,280.26
Internal Auditor	107	5,088.18	6,203.77
Job Trainer	70	3,519.92	4,300.04
Language Assessment & Development	47	2,798.34	3,418.73
Facilitator/Chinese	47	2,190.34	3,410.73
Language Assessment & Development Facilitator/Farsi	47	2,798.34	3,418.73
Language Assessment & Development Facilitator/German	47	2,798.34	3,418.73
Language Assessment & Development Facilitator/Japanese	47	2,798.34	3,418.73
Language Assessment & Development Facilitator/Korean	47	2,798.34	3,418.73
Language Assessment & Development Facilitator/Spanish	47	2,798.34	3,418.73
Language Assessment & Development Facilitator/Vietnamese	47	2,798.34	3,418.73
Lead Custodian	60	3,189.75	3,890.00
Lead Family Services Coordinator	73	3,626.42	4,425.19
Lead Groundskeeper	71	3,554.51	4,339.97
Library Technician	50	2,888.88	3,519.92
Licensed Vocational Nurse	56	3,061.95	3,738.23
Locksmith	80	3,890.00	4,744.70
Mail Delivery Driver	40	2,614.65	3,189.75
Maintenance Carpenter	80	3,890.00	4,744.70
Maintenance Electrician	84	4,049.75	4,939.05
Maintenance Lead – Buildings/Facilities	88	4,209.52	5,138.75
Maintenance Lead – Mechanical Systems	88	4,209.52	5,138.75
Maintenance Painter	80	3,890.00	4,744.70

CLASSIFICATION	RANGE	MIN	MAX
Maintenance Plumber	84	4,049.75	4,939.05
Maintenance Services Leadworker/Dispatcher	90	4,300.04	5,237.26
Maintenance Worker II	70	3,519.92	4,300.04
Mechanic	80	3,890.00	4,744.70
Network Engineer	120	5,788.42	7,042.50
NfL Program Specialist	76	3,738.23	4,560.98
Outreach Worker – Bilingual Spanish	87	4,166.91	5,088.18
Paraprofessional	30	2,364.36	2,888.88
Paraprofessional, Adapted P.E.	31	2,390.99	2,912.85
Paraprofessional/Bilingual-Arabic	32	2,409.64	2,944.80
Paraprofessional/Bilingual-Chinese	32	2,409.64	2,944.80
Paraprofessional/Bilingual-Farsi	32	2,409.64	2,944.80
Paraprofessional/Bilingual-Korean	32	2,409.64	2,944.80
Paraprofessional/Bilingual-Spanish	32	2,409.64	2,944.80
Paraprofessional/Bilingual-Vietnamese	32	2,409.64	2,944.80
Paraprofessional/Braille Transcriber	45	2,747.77	3,346.83
Paraprofessional/PH	31	2,390.99	2,912.85
Paraprofessional/RSP	31	2,390.99	2,912.85
Paraprofessional/SDC	31	2,390.99	2,912.85
Paraprofessional/SDC/Bilingual-Spanish	34	2,462.86	2,998.04
Paraprofessional/Severely Disabled	39	2,588.00	3,160.46
Paraprofessional/Special Ed	31	2,390.99	2,912.85
Paraprofessional/Visually Handicapped	31	2,390.99	2,912.85
Paraprofessional/Vocational Education	31	2,390.99	2,912.85
Payroll Clerk	65	3,346.83	4,087.02
Perinatal Resource Specialist/Bilingual-Spanish	57	3,093.89	3,772.86
Pest/Rodent Control Leadworker	75	3,700.98	4,515.71
Planning Technician	95	4,515.71	5,506.18
Pool Operator	70	3,519.92	4,300.04
Preschool Assistant Teacher	38	2,564.05	3,125.86
Preschool Assistant Teacher/Bilingual-Spanish	41	2,638.58	3,224.35
Preschool Teacher	79	3,844.73	4,699.43
Preschool Teacher/Bilingual-Spanish	82	3,967.24	4,843.20
Programmer Specialist	120	5,788.42	7,042.50
Purchasing Expediter	62	3,250.98	3,967.24
Purchasing Specialist	81	3,921.95	4,792.62
Registrar	50	2,888.88	3,519.92
School Occupational Therapist	121	5,849.67	7,114.38
School Office Manager I	55	3,027.33	3,700.98
School Office Manager II	58	3,125.86	3,807.47
School Office Manager III	59	3,160.46	3,844.73
School Office Manager IV	62	3,250.98	3,967.24
School Office Manager/Bilingual-Spanish	58	3,125.86	3,807.47
- · ·			

CLASSIFICATION	RANGE	MIN	MAX
School Outreach Assistant	43	2,691.87	3,280.26
Secretary	55	3,027.33	3,700.98
Security Guard	51	2,912.85	3,554.51
Senior Account Clerk	62	3,250.98	3,967.24
Senior Accountant	103	4,888.44	5,961.47
Senior Child Guidance Assistant	40	2,614.65	3,189.75
Senior Clerk Typist	47	2,798.34	3,418.73
Senior Clerk Typist/Bilingual Spanish	58	3,125.86	3,807.47
Senior Grounds Equipment Operator	62	3,250.98	3,967.24
Senior Payroll Clerk	85	4,087.02	4,981.66
Sign Language Interpreter	106	5,034.90	6,139.89
Site Computer Technician I	70	3,519.92	4,300.04
Site Computer Technician II	78	3,807.47	4,648.83
Special Education Data Technician	70	3,519.92	4,300.04
Speech-Language Pathology Assistant	46	2,774.40	3,384.12
Speech-Language Pathology Assistant, Bilingual-Spanish	49	2,856.94	3,482.63
Sprinkler Repair Worker	69	3,482.63	4,254.76
Support Data Entry Clerk	71	3,554.51	4,339.97
Systems Administrator	120	5,788.42	7,042.50
Systems Analyst	110	5,237.26	6,387.49
Systems Engineer	120	5,788.42	7,042.50
Systems Technician	86	4,121.00	5,034.00
Telephone Operator/Receptionist	40	2,614.65	3,189.75
Textbook Clerk	40	2,614.65	3,189.75
Tobacco Use Prevention Education Coordinator	98	4,648.83	5,676.56
Translator-Interpreter	55	3,027.33	3,700.98
Transportation Specialist	103	4,888.44	5,961.47
Warehouse Leadworker	73	3,626.42	4,425.19
Warehouse Specialist	62	3,250.98	3,967.24
Warehouse Technician	57	3,093.89	3,772.86
Web Content Specialist	78	3,807.47	4,648.83

# CONEJO VALLEY UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT GENERAL CLASSIFIED UNIT SALARY SCHEDULE

ln.	Effo	-	201	1.4	201	Е

			In Effect 2	014-2015			
CLASSIFICATION	RANGE	MIN	MAX	CLASSIFICATION	RANGE	MIN	MAX
Account Clerk	47	16.14	19.72	Maintenance Painter	80	22.44	27.37
Accounting Technician I	67	19.72	24.04	Maintenance Plumber	84	23.36	28.50
Administrative Assistant	77	21.77	26.57	Maintenance Services	90	24.81	30.22
Adult School Classroom Aide	30	13.64	16.67	Leadwkr/Dispatcher			
Adult School Program Specialist	98	26.82	32.75	Maintenance Worker II	70	20.31	24.81
ASB Bookkeeper	75	21.35	26.05	Mechanic	80	22.44	27.37
AV Electronics Technician	87	24.04	29.36	Network Engineer	120	33.40	40.63
Behavior Intervention Specialist	98	26.82	32.75	NfL Program Specialist	76	21.57	26.31
Behavioral Health Clinician I	95	26.05	31.77	Paraprofessional	30	13.64	16.67
Behavioral Health Clinician II	100	27.37		Paraprofessional/Adapted PE	31	13.79	16.81
Benefits Technician	62	18.76	22.89	Paraprofessional/Bilingual-Arabic,	32	13.90	16.99
Child Care Assistant	30	13.64	16.67	Chinese, Farsi, Korean, Spanish, and			
Child Care Leader	53		20.92	Vietnamese			
Child Nutrition Assistant I	25	13.00		Paraprofessional/Braille Transcriber	45	15.85	19.31
Child Nutrition Assistant II	28	13.39	16.33	Paraprofessional/PH	31	13.79	16.81
Child Nutrition Assistant-Satellite	30	13.64	16.67	Paraprofessional/SDC	31	13.79	
Child Nutrition Delivery Worker	51	16.81		Paraprofessional/RSP	31		16.81
Child Nutrition Delivery Worker II	57	17.85	21.77	Paraprofessional/Severly Disabled	39		18.23
Child Nutrition Manager	44		19.12	Paraprofessional/Special Ed	31		16.81
Child Nutrition Production Manager	54	17.30		Payroll Clerk	65	19.31	
Clerk	32	13.90		Pest/Rodent Control Leadworker	75	21.35	26.05
Clerk Typist	36	14.49	17.67	Planning Technician	95		31.77
College & Career Guidance Specialist	54	17.30	21.14	Pool Operator	70	20.31	
Credential Technician	71	20.51		Preschool Assistant Teacher	38		18.03
Curriculum & Assessment Technician	50	16.67		Preschool Teacher	79		27.11
Custodian	51	16.81		Purchasing Expediter	62		22.89
Database Administrator	120		40.63	Purchasing Specialist	81		27.65
Early Care Aide	10	11.20		Registrar	50	16.67	
Early Care Assistant Teacher	30	13.64 17.14	16.67	School Occupational Therapist	121		41.05 21.35
Early Care Teacher	53		20.92	School Office Manager I	55	17.47 18.03	
Early Literacy Teacher	62	18.76 25.04		School Office Manager II	58		22.18
Employment Specialist	91			School Office Manager III	59 62		22.18
Family Services Coordinator/Bil	67	19.72		School Office Manager IV			
Food Services Aide	10 57	11.20 17.85	13.64 21.77	School Outreach Assistant Secretary	43 55	17.47	18.92 21.35
Graphics Technician I	57 58	18.03			62		22.89
Graphics Tech II/Warehouse Asst	58 57		21.77	Senior Account Clerk	103		34.39
Grounds Equipment Operator Groundskeeper	51	16.81		Senior Accountant Senior Clerk Typist	47	16.14	
Health Clerk	40	15.08	18.40	Senior Clerk Typist Senior Clerk Typist/Bilingual	50	16.14	20.31
Heating & Ventilating Mechanic	84	23.36	28.50	Senior Grounds Equipment Operator	62	18.76	22.89
Human Resources Assistant	47	16.14	19.72	Senior Payroll Clerk	85	23.58	
Human Resources Technician	62	18.76		Sign Language Interpreter	106		35.42
Instructional Media Technician	47	16.14		Site Computer Technician I	70	20.31	
Intermediate Clerk Typist	40	15.08		Site Computer Technician II	78	21.97	
Intermediate Clerk Typist  Intermediate Clerk Typist/Bilingual	43	15.53		Special Ed Data Technician	70		24.81
Internal Auditor	107	29.36	35.79	Speech-Language Pathology Asst	46		19.52
	47	16.14	19.72	Speech-Language Path Asst/Bil-Sp	49	16.48	
Language Assessment & Development		10.11	15.72	Sprinkler Repair Worker	69		24.55
Facilitator / Chinese, Farsi, Japanese,				Systems Administrator	120	33.40	
Korean, Spanish, and Vietnamese				Systems Analyst	110	30.22	
Lead Custodian	60	18 40	22.44	Systems Engineer	120		40.63
Lead Family Services Coordinator	73	20.92		Telephone Opr./Receptionist	40		18.40
Lead Groundskeeper	73 71	20.52	25.04	Translator-Interpreter	55	17.47	21.35
Library Technician	50	16.67		Transportation Specialist	103		34.39
Licensed Vocational Nurse	56	17.67		TUPE Coordinator	98		32.75
Locksmith	80		27.37	Warehouse Leadworker	73		25.53
Mail Delivery Driver	40		18.40	Warehouse Specialist	62		22.89
Maintenance Carpenter	80	22.44	27.37	Warehouse Technician	57	17.85	21.77
Maintenance Electrician	84	23.36		Web Content Specialist	78	21.97	26.82
		24.29		BOE approved 5/5/15, 3% retroactive 7/1/14, a			20.02
Maintenance Lead/Bldgs	88						

#### CONEJO VALLEY UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT SALARY SCHEDULE In Effect for 2014-2015 RANGE | STEP A | A-Hourly STEP B B-Hourly STEP C C-Hourly STEP D D-Hourly STEP E E-Hourly 10 1.941.01 11.20 2,039.53 11.77 2,138.04 12.34 2,252.53 13.00 2,364.36 13.64 11 1.962.30 11.32 2,060.82 11.89 2,162.02 12.47 2,273.86 13.12 2,390.99 13.79 12 1.978.33 11.41 2,076.81 11.98 2,183.32 12.60 2,297.81 13.26 2,409,64 13.90 13 2.002.24 11.55 2.098.12 12.10 2,201.93 12.70 2,321.75 13.39 2,441.55 14.09 2,020.89 2,231.21 2,340.40 2,462.86 14 11.66 2.119.42 12.23 12.87 13.50 14.21 2,364.36 2,039.53 2,138.04 12.34 2,252.53 2,484.17 14.33 15 11.77 13.00 13.64 2,060.82 12.47 2,273.86 2,390.99 2,510.79 14.49 16 11.89 2,162.02 13.12 13.79 2,076.81 17 11.98 2,183,32 12.60 2,297.81 13.26 2,409.64 13.90 2,534.76 14.62 2,441.55 2,564.05 2,098.12 2,201.93 12.70 2,321.75 14.79 18 12.10 13.39 14.09 2,119.42 2,340.40 2,462.86 2,588.00 19 12.23 2,231.21 12.87 13.50 14.21 14.93 2,364.36 20 2,138.04 12.34 2.252.53 13.00 13.64 2,484.17 14.33 2,614.65 15.08 2,162.02 2,273.86 2,390.99 2,510.79 21 12.47 13.12 13.79 14.49 2.638.58 15.22 22 2,183.32 12.60 2,297.81 13.26 2,409.64 13.90 2,534.76 14.62 2,665.22 15.38 23 2,201.93 12.70 2,321.75 13.39 2,441.55 14.09 2,564.05 14.79 2,691.87 15.53 24 2,231.21 12.87 2,340.40 13.50 2,462.86 14.21 2,588.00 14.93 2,718.49 15.68 25 2,252.53 13.00 2,364.36 13.64 2,484.17 14.33 2,614.65 15.08 2,747.77 15.85 2,273.86 2,774.40 26 13.12 2,390.99 13.79 2,510.79 14.49 2,638.58 15.22 16.01 27 2,297.81 13.26 2,409.64 13.90 2,534.76 14.62 2,665.22 15.38 2,798.34 16.14 28 2,321.75 13.39 2,441.55 14.09 2,564.05 14.79 2,691.87 15.53 2,830.31 16.33 29 2,340.40 13.50 2.462.86 14.21 2,588.00 14.93 2,718.49 15.68 2,856.94 16.48 2,747.77 2,364.36 2,484.17 30 13.64 14.33 2,614.65 15.08 15.85 2.888.88 16.67 2,390.99 2,510.79 14.49 2,638.58 15.22 2,774.40 2,912.85 31 13.79 16.81 32 2,409.64 13.90 2,534.76 14.62 2,665.22 15.38 2,798.34 16.14 2,944.80 16.99 33 2,441.55 14.09 2,564.05 14.79 2,691.87 15.53 2,830.31 16.33 2,971.43 17.14 34 2,462.86 14.21 2,588.00 14.93 2,718.49 15.68 2,856.94 16.48 2,998.04 17.30 35 2,484.17 14.33 2,614.65 15.08 2,747.77 15.85 2,888.88 16.67 3,027.33 17.47 36 2,510.79 14.49 2,638.58 15.22 2,774.40 16.01 2,912.85 16.81 3,061.95 17.67 37 2,534.76 14.62 2,665.22 15.38 2,798.34 16.14 2,944.80 16.99 3,093.89 17.85 38 2,564.05 14.79 2,691.87 15.53 2,830.31 16.33 2,971.43 17.14 3,125.86 18.03 39 2,588.00 14.93 2,718.49 15.68 2,856.94 16.48 2,998.04 17.30 3,160.46 18.23 40 2,747.77 18.40 2,614.65 15.08 15.85 2,888.88 16.67 3,027.33 17.47 3,189.75 41 2.638.58 15.22 2.774.40 16.01 2,912.85 16.81 3,061.95 17.67 3,224.35 18.60 42 2,665.22 15.38 2.798.34 16.14 2.944.80 16.99 3,093.89 17.85 3,250.98 18.76 43 2.691.87 15.53 2.830.31 16.33 2.971.43 17.14 3,125.86 18.03 3,280.26 18.92 44 16.48 2.718.49 15.68 2.856.94 2.998.04 17.30 3,160.46 18.23 3,314.90 19.12 45 2,747.77 2,888.88 3,027.33 17.47 3,189.75 18.40 3,346.83 19.31 15.85 16.67 46 2,774.40 16 01 2 912 85 16.81 3,061.95 17.67 3,224.35 18 60 3,384.12 19 52 16.99 47 2 798 34 16 14 2 944 80 3 093 89 17.85 3,250.98 18 76 3 418 73 19 72 48 2.830.31 2.971.43 17.14 3.125.86 18.03 3.280.26 18.92 19.91 16.33 3.450.69 49 2.856.94 16.48 2,998.04 17.30 3,160.46 18.23 3,314.90 19.12 3,482.63 20.09 50 2,888.88 16.67 3,027.33 17.47 3,189.75 18.40 3,346.83 19.31 3,519.92 20.31 51 2,912.85 16.81 3,061.95 17.67 3,224.35 18.60 3,384.12 19.52 3,554.51 20.51 52 2,944.80 16.99 3,093.89 17.85 3,250.98 18.76 3,418.73 19.72 3,589.14 20.71 53 2,971.43 17.14 3,125.86 18.03 3,280.26 18.92 3,450.69 19.91 3,626.42 20.92 54 2,998.04 17.30 3,160.46 18.23 3,314.90 19.12 3,482.63 20.09 3,663.68 21.14 55 3,027.33 17.47 3,189.75 18.40 3,346.83 19.31 3,519.92 20.31 3,700.98 21.35

BOE Approved May 5, 2015, 3% retroactive to July 1, 2014, and additional 1% retroactive to February 1, 2015.

Page 1 of 3

			CON	EJO VALLE	Y UNIFIED S	SCHOOL DIS	TRICT			
				SA	LARY SCHE	DULE				
				In Eff	ect for 201	4-2015				
RANGE	STEP A	A-Hourly	STEP B	B-Hourly	STEP C	C-Hourly	STEP D	D-Hourly	STEP E	E-Hourly
56	3,061.95	17.67	3,224.35	18.60	3,384.12	19.52	3,554.51	20.51	3,738.23	21.57
57	3,093.89	17.85	3,250.98	18.76	3,418.73	19.72	3,589.14	20.71	3,772.86	21.77
58	3,125.86	18.03	3,280.26	18.92	3,450.69	19.91	3,626.42	20.92	3,807.47	21.97
59	3,160.46	18.23	3,314.90	19.12	3,482.63	20.09	3,663.68	21.14	3,844.73	22.18
60	3,189.75	18.40	3,346.83	19.31	3,519.92	20.31	3,700.98	21.35	3,890.00	22.44
61	3,224.35	18.60	3,384.12	19.52	3,554.51	20.51	3,738.23	21.57	3,921.95	22.63
62	3,250.98	18.76	3,418.73	19.72	3,589.14	20.71	3,772.86	21.77	3,967.24	22.89
63	3,280.26	18.92	3,450.69	19.91	3,626.42	20.92	3,807.47	21.97	4,007.14	23.12
64	3,314.90	19.12	3,482.63	20.09	3,663.68	21.14	3,844.73	22.18	4,049.75	23.36
65	3,346.83	19.31	3,519.92	20.31	3,700.98	21.35	3,890.00	22.44	4,087.02	23.58
66	3,384.12	19.52	3,554.51	20.51	3,738.23	21.57	3,921.95	22.63	4,121.67	23.78
67	3,418.73	19.72	3,589.14	20.71	3,772.86	21.77	3,967.24	22.89	4,166.91	24.04
68	3,450.69	19.91	3,626.42	20.92	3,807.47	21.97	4,007.14	23.12	4,209.52	24.29
69	3,482.63	20.09	3,663.68	21.14	3,844.73	22.18	4,049.75	23.36	4,254.76	24.55
70	3,519.92	20.31	3,700.98	21.35	3,890.00	22.44	4,087.02	23.58	4,300.04	24.81
71	3,554.51	20.51	3,738.23	21.57	3,921.95	22.63	4,121.67	23.78	4,339.97	25.04
72	3,589.14	20.71	3,772.86	21.77	3,967.24	22.89	4,166.91	24.04	4,385.26	25.30
73	3,626.42	20.92	3,807.47	21.97	4,007.14	23.12	4,209.52	24.29	4,425.19	25.53
74	3,663.68	21.14	3,844.73	22.18	4,049.75	23.36	4,254.76	24.55	4,470.45	25.79
75	3,700.98	21.35	3,890.00	22.44	4,087.02	23.58	4,300.04	24.81	4,515.71	26.05
76	3,738.23	21.57	3,921.95	22.63	4,121.67	23.78	4,339.97	25.04	4,560.98	26.31
77	3,772.86	21.77	3,967.24	22.89	4,166.91	24.04	4,385.26	25.30	4,606.24	26.57
78	3,807.47	21.97	4,007.14	23.12	4,209.52	24.29	4,425.19	25.53	4,648.83	26.82
79	3,844.73	22.18	4,049.75	23.36	4,254.76	24.55	4,470.45	25.79	4,699.43	27.11
80	3,890.00	22.44	4,087.02	23.58	4,300.04	24.81	4,515.71	26.05	4,744.70	27.37
81	3,921.95	22.63	4,121.67	23.78	4,339.97	25.04	4,560.98	26.31	4,792.62	27.65
82	3,967.24	22.89	4,166.91	24.04	4,385.26	25.30	4,606.24	26.57	4,843.20	27.94
83	4,007.14	23.12	4,209.52	24.29	4,425.19	25.53	4,648.83	26.82	4,888.44	28.20
84	4,049.75	23.36	4,254.76	24.55	4,470.45	25.79	4,699.43	27.11	4,939.05	28.50
85	4,087.02	23.58	4,300.04	24.81	4,515.71	26.05	4,744.70	27.37	4,981.66	28.74
86	4,121.67	23.78	4,339.97	25.04	4,560.98	26.31	4,792.62	27.65	5,034.90	29.05
87	4,166.91	24.04	4,385.26	25.30	4,606.24	26.57	4,843.20	27.94	5,088.18	29.36
88	4,209.52	24.29	4,425.19	25.53	4,648.83	26.82	4,888.44	28.20	5,138.75	29.65
89	4,254.76	24.55	4,470.45	25.79	4,699.43	27.11	4,939.05	28.50	5,189.34	29.94
90	4,300.04	24.81	4,515.71	26.05	4,744.70	27.37	4,981.66	28.74	5,237.26	30.22
91	4,339.97	25.04	4,560.98	26.31	4,792.62	27.65	5,034.90	29.05	5,287.84	30.51
92	4,385.26	25.30	4,606.24	26.57	4,843.20	27.94	5,088.18	29.36	5,346.42	30.85
93	4,425.19	25.53	4,648.83	26.82	4,888.44	28.20	5,138.75	29.65	5,397.02	31.14
94	4,470.45	25.79	4,699.43	27.11	4,939.05	28.50	5,189.34	29.94	5,455.62	31.48
95	4,515.71	26.05	4,744.70	27.37	4,981.66	28.74	5,237.26	30.22	5,506.18	31.77
96	4,560.98	26.31	4,792.62	27.65	5,034.90	29.05	5,287.84	30.51	5,564.78	32.11
97	4,606.24	26.57	4,843.20	27.94	5,088.18	29.36	5,346.42	30.85	5,620.68	32.43
98	4,648.83	26.82	4,888.44	28.20	5,138.75	29.65	5,397.02	31.14	5,676.56	32.75
99	4,699.43	27.11	4,939.05	28.50	5,189.34	29.94	5,455.62	31.48	5,732.49	33.07
100	4,744.70	27.37	4,981.66	28.74	5,237.26	30.22	5,506.18	31.77	5,788.42	33.40
101	4,792.62	27.65	5,034.90	29.05	5,287.84	30.51	5,564.78	32.11	5,849.67	33.75

BOE Approved May 5, 2015, 3% retroactive to July 1, 2014, and additional 1% retroactive to February 1, 2015.

Page 2 of 3

	CONEJO VALLEY UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT									
			con		LARY SCHE					
					ect for 201					
RANGE	STEP A	A-Hourly	STEP B	B-Hourly	STEP C	C-Hourly	STEP D	D-Hourly	STEP E	E-Hourly
102	4,843.20	27.94	5,088.18	29.36	5,346.42	30.85	5,620.68	32.43	5,902.90	34.06
103	4,888.44	28.20	5,138.75	29.65	5,397.02	31.14	5,676.56	32.75	5,961.47	34.39
104	4,939.05	28.50	5,189.34	29.94	5,455.62	31.48	5,732.49	33.07	6,025.40	34.76
105	4,981.66	28.74	5,237.26	30.22	5,506.18	31.77	5,788.42	33.40	6,086.63	35.12
106	5,034.90	29.05	5,287.84	30.51	5,564.78	32.11	5,849.67	33.75	6,139.89	35.42
107	5,088.18	29.36	5,346.42	30.85	5,620.68	32.43	5,902.90	34.06	6,203.77	35.79
108	5,138.75	29.65	5,397.02	31.14	5,676.56	32.75	5,961.47	34.39	6,262.33	36.13
109	5,189.34	29.94	5,455.62	31.48	5,732.49	33.07	6,025.40	34.76	6,328.91	36.51
110	5,237.26	30.22	5,506.18	31.77	5,788.42	33.40	6,086.63	35.12	6,387.49	36.85
111	5,287.84	30.51	5,564.78	32.11	5,849.67	33.75	6,139.89	35.42	6,454.06	37.24
112	5,346.42	30.85	5,620.68	32.43	5,902.90	34.06	6,203.77	35.79	6,525.93	37.65
113	5,397.02	31.14	5,676.56	32.75	5,961.47	34.39	6,262.33	36.13	6,587.18	38.00
114	5,455.62	31.48	5,732.49	33.07	6,025.40	34.76	6,328.91	36.51	6,645.75	38.34
115	5,506.18	31.77	5,788.42	33.40	6,086.63	35.12	6,387.49	36.85	6,707.02	38.70
116	5,564.78	32.11	5,849.67	33.75	6,139.89	35.42	6,454.06	37.24	6,776.22	39.09
117	5,620.68	32.43	5,902.90	34.06	6,203.77	35.79	6,525.93	37.65	6,853.45	39.54
118	5,676.56	32.75	5,961.47	34.39	6,262.33	36.13	6,587.18	38.00	6,917.34	39.91
119	5,732.49	33.07	6,025.40	34.76	6,328.91	36.51	6,645.75	38.34	6,978.57	40.26
120	5,788.42	33.40	6,086.63	35.12	6,387.49	36.85	6,707.02	38.70	7,042.50	40.63
121	5,849.67	33.75	6,139.89	35.42	6,454.06	37.24	6,776.22	39.09	7,114.38	41.05
122	5,902.90	34.06	6,203.77	35.79	6,525.93	37.65	6,853.45	39.54	7,196.91	41.52
123	5,961.47	34.39	6,262.33	36.13	6,587.18	38.00	6,917.34	39.91	7,263.48	41.91
124	6,025.40	34.76	6,328.91	36.51	6,645.75	38.34	6,978.57	40.26	7,327.40	42.27
125	6,086.63	35.12	6,387.49	36.85	6,707.02	38.70	7,042.50	40.63	7,393.96	42.66
126	6,139.89	35.42	6,454.06	37.24	6,776.22	39.09	7,114.38	41.05	7,471.17	43.10
127	6,203.77	35.79	6,525.93	37.65	6,853.45	39.54	7,196.91	41.52	7,556.35	43.60
128	6,262.33	36.13	6,587.18	38.00	6,917.34	39.91	7,263.48	41.91	7,625.59	43.99
129	6,328.91	36.51	6,645.75	38.34	6,978.57	40.26	7,327.40	42.27	7,694.79	44.39
130	6,387.49	36.85	6,707.02	38.70	7,042.50	40.63	7,393.96	42.66	7,764.04	44.79
131	6,454.06	37.24	6,776.22	39.09	7,114.38	41.05	7,471.17	43.10	7,843.91	45.25
132	6,525.93	37.65	6,853.45	39.54	7,196.91	41.52	7,556.35	43.60	7,934.42	45.78
133	6,587.18	38.00	6,917.34	39.91	7,263.48	41.91	7,625.59	43.99	8,006.33	46.19
134	6,645.75	38.34	6,978.57	40.26	7,327.40	42.27	7,694.79	44.39	8,080.87	46.62
135	6,707.02	38.70	7,042.50	40.63	7,393.96	42.66	7,764.04	44.79	8,152.77	47.04
136	6,776.22	39.09	7,114.38	41.05	7,471.17	43.10	7,843.91	45.25	8,235.31	47.51
137	6,853.45	39.54	7,196.91	41.52	7,556.35	43.60	7,934.42	45.78	8,331.17	48.07
138	6,917.34	39.91	7,263.48	41.91	7,625.59	43.99	8,006.33	46.19	8,405.70	48.50
139	6,978.57	40.26	7,327.40	42.27	7,694.79	44.39	8,080.87	46.62	8,485.58	48.96
140	7,042.50	40.63	7,393.96	42.66	7,764.04	44.79	8,152.77	47.04	8,560.14	49.39

#### APPENDIX B

#### CSEA DUES/SERVICE FEE STRUCTURE

The per capita dues/service fee of the State Association shall be assessed at the rate of one point five percent (1.5%) of the first two thousand four hundred fifty dollars (\$2,450) of the monthly gross salary (exclusive of overtime, but including longevity, professional growth, and anniversary increments), but shall not exceed a maximum assessment of three hundred sixty seven dollars and fifty cents (\$367.50) annually. The monthly deductions shall commence in September of each year and continue through August 31st, or until a maximum of \$367.50 has been deducted during said twelve (12) month period.

Chapter dues shall be two dollars (\$2.00) per month, but shall not exceed twenty dollars (\$20) annually.

The preceding dues/service fee structure is subject to change by adoption of the CSEA conference delegates and the members of the local chapter.

#### APPENDIX C

### MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING (MOU)

#### Memorandum of Understanding

#### Between

#### Conejo Valley Unified School District

### And the California School Employees Association and its Conejo Valley 620 Chapter (CSEA)

#### December 5, 2014

In order to ensure that employees are compensated in accord with Federal and state requirements for work related travel, and maximize operational efficiency in payroll processing, the District and CSEA agree to adopt a mileage allowance that would provide for appropriate travel compensation as follows:

Daily Travel Requirement	Monthly Allowance	Daily Travel Requirement	Monthly Allowance
Less than 1 mile	\$13.25	5.5 miles, but less than 6.0 miles	\$75.00
1.0 mile, but less than 1.5 miles	\$19.50	6.0 miles, but less than 6.5 miles	\$81.00
1.5 miles, but less than 2.0 miles	\$25.75	6.5 miles, but less than 7.0 miles	\$87.25
2.0 miles, but less than 2.5 miles	\$32.00	7.0 mlles, but less than 7.5 miles	\$93.50
2.5 miles, but less than 3.0 miles	\$38.25	7.5 miles, but less than 8.0 miles	\$99.50
3.0 miles, but less than 3.5 miles	\$44.50	8.0 miles, but less than 8.5 miles	\$105.50
3.5 miles, but less than 4.0 miles	\$50.75	8.5 miles, but less than 9.0 miles	\$111.50
4.0 miles, but less than 4.5 miles	\$56.75	9.0 miles, but less than 9.5 miles	\$117.75
4.5 miles, but less than 5.0 miles	\$63.00	9.5 miles, but less than 10.0 miles	\$123.75
5.0 miles, but less than 5.5 miles	\$69.00		

This agreement reflects increases in the IRS adopted reimbursement rate and would provide for sufficient compensation to traveling employees.

The following agreement is subject to Board approval and CSEA ratification.

For the District	For CSEA	(). ()
MALMEN _	Mattublelien	- Joun Hower
Mark McLaughlin,	Matt Waldman, Chapter	Jo-Ann Flowers, Negotiator
Assistant Superintendent, Personnel	President	
Services / WWW	SHOW	
Marina Mihalevsky	Jennifer Coates, Negotiator	Michael Reyes, Negotiator
Director, Classified Personnel		
	Nicole Teninty, Negotiator	Mark Love, Labor
		Representative

### APPENDIX D

### SICK LEAVE DONATION FORM

### Catastrophic Leave Request Form (CSEA)

I,Name of Employee	_, do hereby apply for c	atastrophic leave in accord
with Article 13 of the Agreement bet Valley Unified School District.	tween CSEA and its Ch	napter 620, and the Conejo
I am requesting leave due to my abse	ence from work as a res	ult of:
Check one:		
■ My own health condition		
□ Care for		
Basis for request:		
I have attached physician verification member's medical condition.	on for □ my own med	dical condition or 🗖 family
Signature of Employee	Date	
REVIEW BY CATASTROPHIC LEAV	E COMMITTEE	
□ Approved by Catastrophic Review □ Not approved by Catastrophic Re		
Signature of CSEA President		Date
Signature of Assistant Superintender	nt, Personnel Services	Date
FISCAL SERVICES DEPARTMENT/		
Hours/Days of Leave Donated	Applied	

### APPENDIX E

### **GRIEVANCE FORM**

CONEJO VALLEY UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT CHAPTER 620-CALIFORNIA SCHOOL EMPLOYEES ASSOCIATION (CSEA) GRIEVANCE SUBMITTAL FORM

Page 1 of 2

INFORMATION: This grievance submittal form is to be used to submit a grievance in writing as stated in provisions of existing agreements with recognized exclusive representatives of employee organizations.					
INSTRUCTIONS: Within 30 days of alleged grievance, any employee, full or part-time, may complete this form and forward it to the appropriate level of supervision. The Supervisor to whom a grievance is presented has the responsibility to respond to such grievance in the manner and within the limits prescribed in agreements with an exclusive representative of employees under provisions of Chapter 10.7 (Rodda Act).					
Name of Employee submitting grievance	Classification	(Employee)	Date		
School, Department, Section, Unit (Employee	) .	Immediate Supervisor (Name)			
Statement of Grievance (By Employee)*					
Action Requested (By Employee)			·		
I presented this grievance to					
my Immediate Supervisor on		EMPLOYEE SIGNATURE			
LEVEL I					
LEVEL I REVIEW BY IMMEDIATE SUPERVISOR	-	Date	Received		
	(nan	ne) Supe	Received_ rvisor must respond by 10th work day		
REVIEW BY IMMEDIATE SUPERVISOR		ne) Supe	Received_ rvisor must respond by 10th work day		
REVIEW BY IMMEDIATE SUPERVISOR		ne) Supe	Receivedrvisor must respond by 10th work day		
REVIEW BY IMMEDIATE SUPERVISOR		ne) Supe	Receivedrvisor must respond by 10th work day		
REVIEW BY IMMEDIATE SUPERVISOR		ne) Supe	Receivedrvisor must respond by 10th work day		
REVIEW BY IMMEDIATE SUPERVISOR		ne) Supe	Received		
REVIEW BY IMMEDIATE SUPERVISOR		ne) Supe	Received		
REVIEW BY IMMEDIATE SUPERVISOR		ne) Supe	Received		
REVIEW BY IMMEDIATE SUPERVISOR  1 reviewed this grievance and the following ac	tion was taken:	<u>Supe</u>	Received		
REVIEW BY IMMEDIATE SUPERVISOR_  1 reviewed this grievance and the following ac	tion was taken:	<u>Supe</u>	rvisor must respond by 10th work day		
REVIEW BY IMMEDIATE SUPERVISOR  1 reviewed this grievance and the following ac  IMMEDIATE SUPERVISOR SIGNATURE NAME OF INTERMEDIATE (next higher) SI  TO EMPLOYEE: Route this form to the next	UPERVISOR	bupe Supe	Returned to Employee		
REVIEW BY IMMEDIATE SUPERVISOR  1 reviewed this grievance and the following ac  IMMEDIATE SUPERVISOR SIGNATURE NAME OF INTERMEDIATE (next higher) SI  TO EMPLOYEE: Route this form to the next representatives of employee	UPERVISOR	Date  Date	Returned to Employee		
I reviewed this grievance and the following ac investment of the property of t	UPERVISOR highest level of organizations,	Date  Supervision as indicated in provisity you do not concur with the act	Returned to Employee		
REVIEW BY IMMEDIATE SUPERVISOR  1 reviewed this grievance and the following ac  IMMEDIATE SUPERVISOR SIGNATURE NAME OF INTERMEDIATE (next higher) SI  TO EMPLOYEE: Route this form to the next representatives of employee	UPERVISOR highest level of organizations,	Date  Supervision as indicated in provisity you do not concur with the act	Returned to Employee		
IMMEDIATE SUPERVISOR SIGNATURE. NAME OF INTERMEDIATE (next higher) SI TO EMPLOYEE: Route this form to the next representatives of employee  Employee must indicate by 10th work day.  Concur with action taken above an	UPERVISOR_ highest level of organizations, d accept solutio ove and desire	Date supervision as indicated in provi if you do not concur with the act in proposed thereby, grievance to be submitted to Leve	Returned to Employee		
IMMEDIATE SUPERVISOR SIGNATURE NAME OF INTERMEDIATE (next higher) SI  TO EMPLOYEE: Route this form to the next representatives of employee  Employee must indicate by 10th work day.  Concur with action taken above an	UPERVISOR_ highest level of organizations, d accept solutio ove and desire	Date supervision as indicated in provi if you do not concur with the act in proposed thereby, grievance to be submitted to Leve	Returned to Employee sions of agreement with exclusive to taken above.		

LEVELII	C
REVIEW BY ASST. SUPERINTENDENT	Supervisor must respond by 10th work day Date Received
OR NEXT LEVEL SUPERVISOR (name)	
T	
I reviewed this grievance and the following action was taken:*	
ASST. SUPERINTENDENT OR	
	Date Returned to Employee
TO EMPLOYEE: Route this form to the next highest level of supervision as indicated it	in provisions of existing agreement with exclusive
representatives of employee organizations if you do not concur with	the above action.
Employee must indicate by 10th work day.	
Concur with action taken above and accept solution proposed thereby.	
Employee must indicate by 10th work day.  Concur with action taken above and accept solution proposed thereby.  Do not concur with action taken above and desire complaint to be submitted	to Level III.
	'
EMPLOYEE SIGNATURE	DATE
LEVEL III	Superintendent must respond by 10th work day
REVIEW BY SUPERINTENDENT (or designee) (name)	Date Received
(name)	No.
I reviewed this grievance and the following action was taken:*	
1 testewer tims fitesaure and the following action was taken:	
SUPERINTENDENT (or designee) SIGNATURE	Date Returned to Employee
TO DUDI OVER W	
TO EMPLOYEE: Route this form to the next highest grievance level as indicated in pre representatives of employee organizations, if you do not concur with	ovisions of existing agreement with exclusive h the action taken above.
Employee must indicate by 10th work day,	
Concur with action taken above and accept solution proposed thereby.	
□ Do not concur with action taken above and desire grievance to be submitted	to arbitration.
EMBLOVEE CICAL TURE	
EMPLOYEE SIGNATURE	_ DATE
LEVEL IV	
Date submitted to Arbitration:	

\*Attach additional sheets if necessary. Revised 4/01

## **INDEX**

Appendix A – Salary Schedule	81
Appendix B – CSEA Dues/Service Fee Structure	90
Appendix C – Memorandum of Understanding	91
Appendix D – Sick Leave Donation	92
Appendix E – Grievance Form	93
Check Off and Organizational Security	11
Concerted Activities	15
Discipline	75
District Rights	14
Duration	75
Employee Expenses and Materials	29
Employee Rights	6
Evaluation Procedures	57
Grievances	61
Health and Welfare Benefits	20
Holidays	49
Hours and Overtime	29
Layoff and Reemployment	52
Leaves	35
Negotiations	74
No Discrimination	6
Organizational Rights	8
Pay and Allowances	15
Preamble	2
Professional Growth	65
Recognition	2
Safety	60
Transfers and Other Employment Actions	50
Union Representatives	13
Vacation Plan	46